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Strategic Plan 2008-2011
Purpose
The voice of the legal profession in Western Australia.

Vision
To be the representative body for the legal profession in Western Australia.

By 2011, The Law Society of Western Australia will be recognised:
For high value membership;• 
As leaders in Continuing Professional Development (CPD);• 
As the voice of the legal profession in Western Australia;• 
For promoting access to justice; and• 
As a best practice professional association.• 

Key Result Areas
Key Result Area 1: High value membership
Key Result Area 2: Leaders in Continuing Professional Development
Key Result Area 3: Voice of the legal profession in Western Australia
Key Result Area 4: Promoting access to Justice
Key Result Area 5: Best practice professional association

Key Product Areas and Services 
Our key products and services will at all times be aligned to, and complement our Key Result 
Areas. 
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Snapshot of Achievements
The Law Society of Western Australia has 
successfully achieved numerous targets 
throughout the 2008/2009 financial year. Below 
you will find some of the key achievements by 
the numbers. 

8 – Percentage of member number growth 
compared to 2007/2008 

11 – Graduates of 
the Legal Assistant’s 
Training Course

28 – Executive 
Meetings with key stakeholders

33 – Graduates placed by the Society’s Articled 
Clerk Clearing House 

37 – Solicitors and Barristers with Family Law 
Accreditation as at 30 June 2009 

42 – Firms accredited with the Quality 
Practice Standard as at 30 June 2009 

43 – Participants 
in the 2008 YLC 
Advocacy Weekend 
(29 young lawyers, 
14 teachers)

45 – Pro bono applications assessed by Access 
to Justice Committee 

51 – Membership visits to law firms

65 – Society CPD 
learning events held 

130 – Firms responding 
to the Salary Survey
 

350+ – Firms registered 
on the Legal Referral 
Database

370 – Committee meetings

 
2,848 – Members of the public who visited the 
Old Court House Law Museum  

7,039 – Student and 
teacher visitors to Francis 
Burt Law Education 
Centre’s Perth and 
Fremantle premises

3,120 
Paid members to 

the Society

43 

Committees 
of the Society

4,071
Registrants at 
Society CPD 

learning events

460 
Members 
serving on 

Society 
committees

38 
Schools 

participating 
in the 2009 
Mock Trials 
Competition 
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Council 2008
The Society’s Council elections are held 
annually. The President, two Vice Presidents, 
one Country Member and two Junior Members 
are elected for a one-year term. Ordinary 
members are elected for a two-year term. The
Articled Clerk representative is appointed by the 
Council.

Executive

Dudley Stow
President

Hylton Quail
Senior Vice President

Simon Watters
Vice President

Judith Fordham
Treasurer

Ordinary Members
Ken Bates
Judith Fordham
Nuala Keating
Belinda Lonsdale
Steven Penglis
Shane Sirett
Dr Christopher Kendall
Denis McLeod
Rhonda Parks
John Prior
Michelle Quigley
John Staude

Immediate Past President
Maria Saraceni

Country Member
Carmel McKenzie

Junior Members
Rebecca O’Brien
Matthew Keogh

Articled Clerk Representative
Elizabeth Seggie
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Council 2009
Executive

Dudley Stow
President

Hylton Quail
Senior Vice President

Simon Watters
Vice President

Judith Fordham
Treasurer

Ordinary Members
Judith Fordham
Pamela Hass
Dr Christopher Kendall
Greg McIntyre SC
Denis McLeod
Rhonda Parks
Steven Penglis
John Prior
Michelle Quigley
Shane Sirett
Craig Slater
John Staude

Immediate Past President
Maria Saraceni

Country Member
Carmel McKenzie

Junior Members
Haley Allan
Jeremy Sher

Articled Clerk Representative
Gabrielle Clarke
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President’s Report
I am pleased to provide 
my second annual 
report to our members 
as President of the Law 
Society of Western 
Australia.  2008/2009 
has been a very busy 
year for the Society 
on both a national 
and state front.  In 
2008/2009 the Society 
has been the voice of 
the legal profession 
in Western Australia on many issues which 
have arisen over the past year, particularly as 
the period covered the last state election, with 
law and order being a major election issue for 
the new government. Indeed that theme in 
government has continued to the date of this 
report. 

Legal Profession Act
In March the Legal Profession Act 2008 came 
into operation with all its changes, particularly 
as far as costs agreements and trust account 
rules were concerned.  However the Act was 
not a truly national Act, with each state having 
their own similar, but not the same, provisions. 
Following pressure from cross-border firms 
over the inconsistencies, the proposal for a truly 
national Act has been elevated from SCAG 
to COAG and adopted by the Premiers and 
the Federal Government in May as one of its 
priorities.  The effect of the COAG decision 
is that the new national Act has considerable 
priority and resources have been allocated to its 
drafting.

The proposal is moving at a very rapid rate and 
space in this report does not allow a summary 
of the position. I urge members to regularly 
check the Society’s website and Friday Facts, 
where updates are contained. As at the time of 
writing, the Federal Attorney General has stated 
that the Act is to be drafted by April 2010.  

Regional Court Facilities
The Society has made numerous and strong 
representations to government and will continue 
to express its grave concern at the quite 
disgraceful state of many of WA’s regional 
courts including Kununurra, Broome, Kalgoorlie 
and Carnarvon, to name but four.  At a recent 
Executive meeting with the Department of the 
Attorney General it was confirmed funding 
has not been allocated for Kununurra and 
Broome.  The Attorney General has confirmed 
funding has been allocated for Kalgoorlie and 
it is hoped that funding under the Royalties for 
Regions program will be made available for the 
Carnarvon court building.

New Supreme Court
The Society has and will continue to actively 
lobby the state government on the urgent need 
for a new Supreme Court. The Society, and 
myself personally, have over a very long period 
been gravely concerned about the inadequate 
accommodation for the Supreme Court. It now 
operates over three sites, one of which is in an 
ordinary office tower. 

If we, as a community, are to attract and retain 
the brightest and best persons as judges, 
they need to be adequately remunerated, 
have appropriate accommodation and have 
sufficient resources so that the pressure that, 
for example, the Court of Appeal is under, can 
be met without judges having to work inordinate 
hours and have appropriate accommodation. 

The courts are not an arm of government, 
they are separate from and independent 
of government, which has an obligation to 
adequately fund and provide appropriate 
and suitable accommodation. For too long 
governments of all persuasions have ignored 
that obligation. To build stadia as a populist 
measure is plainly wrong. 
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Legal Aid Funding
The Society is committed to promoting access 
to justice by members of the public. To this end, 
the Society continues to develop partnerships 
with key stakeholders in the delivery of a range 
of community service programs which aim 
to facilitate and promote legal services and 
enhance access to justice by members of our 
community.

The Society fully endorses calls made by the 
Law Council of Australia and National Legal 
Aid in response to the recent federal budget 
announcements and urges recognition of these 
factors in the next round of legal aid funding 
agreements to be negotiated.  We will continue 
to lobby for increased levels of recurrent 
funding to ensure adequate and sustainable 
delivery of legal services in Western Australia 
and nationally.

Mandatory Sentencing
The Society opposed the introduction of 
mandatory sentencing for assaults on public 
officers.  As well as conducting a media 
campaign, we met with all political parties 
and many individual members to express our 
concerns at the erosion of the separation of 
powers and the inevitable injustices that will 
follow from mandatory imprisonment of affected 
offenders.  The Society doubts the effectiveness 
of the legislation, as research studies have 
shown such legislation to be ineffective in 
reducing crime. The Society will continue to 
monitor the effect of the legislation.

Committees and Submissions
The Society has more than 40 committees and 
once again they have provided outstanding 
service to the Society and the community; they 
are indeed the unsung heroes of the Society. 
Without their unstinting contribution, the Society 
would not be able to function and I thank them 
all for their sterling work during the year. 

49 submissions were made during the year; 
a list of them is featured in this report. Please 
also read the short summary reports from the 
committees. Each committee’s full report is 
available to read on the Society’s website. 
Regretfully space in the Annual Report does not 
allow their full reports to be printed. 

Professional Conduct Rules
Under the 2008 Act, the Professional Conduct 
Rules are to be promulgated by the Legal 
Practice Board of Western Australia (LPBWA), 
which is currently drafting them. The Society 
has provided comment on the draft and is 
represented on the relevant committee.  The 
rules will be Professional Conduct Rules for 
Practitioners and will apply to all practitioners.  
As the rules are drafted by and approved by the 
LPB, once gazetted, they will have the force of 
law.  

The Society is also represented on the Law 
Council working group that is seeking to 
develop uniform Professional Conduct Rules.  
I am pleased to report that the LPBWA is also 
being consulted as part of this process and that 
the conduct rules for the Western Australian 
profession are not being drafted in isolation of 
the work being done at a national level. 

I thank the Courts Committee for their ongoing 
work, particularly with the new Professional 
Conduct Rules.

Regional Lawyers 
As part of the Society’s annual program I have, 
with other members of the Executive, visited as 
many of the major regional towns as possible, 
usually timed to coincide with the Law Mutual 
Risk Management Seminars.

The problems of regional WA are, to an extent, 
the same as in the eastern states, however 
compounded by the vast distances and 
remoteness of towns and communities. The 
Law Council Of Australia, with the support of 
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the Society, arranged a nationwide survey of 
legal practitioners in rural, regional and remote 
(RRR) areas of Australia. The Society arranged 
the survey in WA . The survey was conducted 
to explore widespread concerns within the legal 
profession, that there were significant problems 
in recruiting and retaining lawyers in rural 
Australia.  

My own visits confirmed there are significant 
issues in attracting and retaining suitably 
qualified lawyers in rural areas. It is estimated 
that something in the order of 50% of 
RRR lawyers are considering leaving their 
communities in the next five years. These 
lawyers form a vital part of rural communities.

The Society has taken positive action to 
address the problem and has been involved in 
a WA-specific Country Lawyers Program (CLP) 
since 2007, in partnership with Legal Aid WA, 
the Legal Practice Board of WA, Community 
Legal Centres, the Aboriginal Legal Service, 
Indigenous Family Violence Prevention Legal 
Services and both State and Commonwealth 
Governments. 

Commercial Matters
As can be seen from the list of reports and 
submissions prepared by the Society’s many 
committees, while not attracting the same 
publicity in the media as criminal law matters, 
the commercial law areas of the Society were 
not neglected and were again extremely busy.  

One of the many major tasks undertaken was 
the review and subsequent introduction of the 
2009 General Conditions for the Sale of Land. 
Over the 30 or so years the Society has been 
preparing the General Conditions, they have 
become a very sophisticated and complex 
document and I particularly thank those 
involved in their preparation.

Criminal Law Reform
As mentioned, the law reform process, 
specifically in the area of criminal law, has been 
a particular focus this year including truth in 
sentencing laws and a review of the current 
system of parole. 

The Society has recently been asked to 
comment on the Attorney General’s proposal 
to fully implement the COAG law reform 
model and advise on the offences to which the 
double jeopardy reforms should apply.  NSW 
and Queensland have addressed the COAG 
reforms in part, whilst South Australia and 
Tasmania have fully implemented the COAG 
model.  Victoria and the ACT have reserved 
their positions on the model.  The Society 
has adopted a position supporting the COAG 
model for offences carrying more than 20 years 
imprisonment, subject to the repeal of Section 
24(2)(da) of the Criminal Appeals Act 2004. 
The Society has also called for the repeal of the 
double jeopardy reforms legislated under the 
last state government.

In addition, following the publication of Robert 
Lindsay’s Brief article Punishment Without 
Finality – One Year in the Life and Death of 
Alan Egan, the Society wrote to the State 
Attorney General enquiring as to:

The number of prisoners (there being • 
28) subject to indefinite imprisonment in 
Western Australia
Details and names of those imprisoned, and • 
Their location. • 

Information received to date indicates there are 
approximately 27 persons in jail on indefinite 
sentences. Their details are unknown.

All of which has involved significant work by 
the Society and in particular the Criminal Law 
Committee.
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Organised Crime Networks – A 
National Approach?
The Society has supported the proposal to 
introduce a Bill to expand the powers of the 
Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003, as 
experience in Western Australia has shown that 
the CCC has not been effective in combating 
and reducing the incidence of organised crime.  
The Society has spoken to the Attorney General 
and is waiting to comment on the proposed 
legislation.

Law Mutual
I was very pleased to report several months 
ago that after many years all the claims against 
a number of law firms arising out of what has 
become known as the Mortgage Brokers Affair 
have been settled (on a confidential basis) and 
without admitting liability. The settlement was 
on terms which I regard as most satisfactory 
to Law Mutual and the Law Society. All the 
court actions against the law firms have been 
dismissed and appropriate notices filed in court. 

Last year I reported that a considerable amount 
of time was spent in discussions with the state 
government in relation to restructuring Law 
Mutual.  It was determined by the government 
that Law Mutual would remain under the 
auspices of the Society. However, the Legal 
Profession Act 2008 provides the ability for the 
Society to establish a separate Professional 
Indemnity Insurance Management Committee.

Council has progressed with the establishment 
of the Professional Indemnity Insurance 
Management Committee and this committee will 
hold their first meeting in September 2009.

Society Events
The Society had a comprehensive event and 
social calendar this year. Events were aimed 
at networking for the profession, honouring the 
judiciary, career milestones and community 
contributions of the legal fraternity, as well 
as social activities to involve all within the 

legal profession. While the Young Lawyers 
Committee has many functions such as the 
Advocacy Weekend, they also have many 
social functions and I thank them for their active 
contribution.

Continuing Professional Development
One of the key changes that resulted from the 
introduction of the Legal Profession Act 2008 is 
mandatory continuing professional development 
(CPD). With the onus on legal practitioners to 
earn CPD points in order to renew their practice 
certificates, the Society responded expeditiously 
to this challenge by significantly enhancing 
its CPD program. I am pleased to report that 
the Society, through the valuable assistance 
of the Education Committee, delivered more 
than 50 CPD seminars in 2008/2009, including 
delivering two seminars via video conference 
facilities to regional Western Australia. I thank 
the Chief Justice and the Chief Judge for their 
support, and the Department of the Attorney 
General for their assistance and use of the 
court facilities across the state.

Law Council of Australia
I have represented the interests of the Western 
Australian legal profession at a national level 
as a Director of the Law Council of Australia 
in 2008/2009. While WA does not have the 
resources of NSW or Victoria to assist the LCA 
in its work, WA’s involvement in the LCA is 
very important, particularly as the new National 
Profession Act is developed.

The Law Council also represents the Australian 
legal profession overseas, and maintains 
close relationships with legal professional 
bodies throughout the world with a particular 
emphasis on the Asian region and a weight to 
gaining access to the legal markets of our near 
neighbours. 
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Staff
The new Legal Profession Act 2008 and the 
continuing imperative to focus on the wants 
and needs of members has meant the workload 
of our staff has increased substantially.  A 
snapshot of work undertaken can be seen 
from the Executive Director’s report.  I thank 
in particular the Executive Director David 
Price and his staff for their great work and the 
excellent effort in 2008/2009.

In Conclusion 
Membership of the Society is and always 
has been voluntary. The Society has been 
constantly adapting to the changing needs of 
the profession, its members and the expectation 
of both government and members of the public. 
As part of that process, a survey of members 
will take place in the latter part of 2009. I am 
pleased that the legal profession has supported 
the Society in its changes.

As a professional body we represent legal 
practitioners and it is heartening to see that the 
Society’s membership has grown during the 
year to just over 3,000 members, a significant 
proportion of the profession. This is partly 
because it is just that, a profession, and the 
profession needs to have a voice. 

A strong and united profession is required to 
deal with the immense changes being made to 
the law, how it operates, the need for greater 
access to justice by the large bulk of the 
community and community expectations. In 
particular as government constantly increases 
the complexity and length of Acts of parliament 
and the size and volume of regulations, the 
Society and its committees are under constant 
pressure to ensure members are protected, as 
are the interests of our judicial system and the 
public. 

I would like to acknowledge and thank the two 
Councils (2008 and 2009) and also the two 
Executives that I have worked with and thank 

them for their support, dedication and work on 
behalf of the profession. In particular I thank 
Hylton Quail as Senior Vice President for 
stepping in and speaking to the media on many 
of the criminal law issues that have arisen over 
the last year. 

Dudley Stow
President
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Executive Director’s Report
The Law Society of 
Western Australia 
has continued to 
work hard over the 
past 12 months to be 
the representative 
body for the legal 
profession in Western 
Australia. This has 
been achieved 
through providing high 
value membership, 
delivering a quality 
professional development program, being 
the voice of the legal profession in Western 
Australia, promoting access to justice and 
striving to be a best practice professional 
association.

Our membership in 2008/2009 has grown 
by 8%, from 2,880 paid members at 30 June 
2008 to our highest ever number of 3,120 paid 
members at 30 June 2009.  

To ensure we continue to provide high 
value membership, Council reviewed its 
Communication and Marketing Plan and 
adopted a new Membership Plan this year. Both 
these plans align with the Society’s Strategic 
Plan which was adopted in 2007/2008. 

The Continuing Professional Development 
(CPD) Business Plan adopted by Council in 
2007/2008 continued to be implemented this 
year.  The results have been very positive with 
the target seminar numbers achieved and 
average attendances exceeding forecasts.  
Brand awareness of the Society CPD offering 
has built steadily over the year along with 
increasing use of self-accessed online 
registration through the Learning Management 
System (LMS).  Branding, high quality 
publications and facility refurbishment also 
reinforced the quality CPD program offering.

Our very good relationship with the Department 
of the Attorney General Courts and Tribunals 
has resulted in the delivery of two very 
successful video conferences (Dec 2008, April 
2009).  It is hoped that the Society can continue 
this form of delivery once per quarter, however, 
this will be largely reliant on ongoing support 
from courts.  Online e-learning is also now 
available to all members of the profession via 
the Society’s website.

The Society in partnership with the University 
of Western Australia ran a highly successful 
one-day Law Summer School.  250 people 
attended.

The Society was active in its role as the voice 
of the legal profession in Western Australia this 
year in many ways.  We spoke out in the media, 
our committees worked tirelessly in responding 
to issues and requests to review and comment 
on matters affecting the law, the Executive of 
the Society met with key stakeholders on behalf 
of the profession and we continue to work 
closely with the Law Council of Australia on 
national and international issues.

Law Mutual
A Governance review report of Law Mutual was 
adopted by Council on 25 September 2008.  
All of the recommendations within this report 
were required to be implemented before the 
Professional Indemnity Insurance Management 
Committee was established under the Legal 
Profession Act 2008. I am pleased to report all 
relevant recommendations were completed by 
30 June 2009.

The professional indemnity insurance renewals 
for Law Mutual were sent out at the end of April.  
The total increase in premiums for 2009/2010 
has been held to 4.4% over the 2008/2009 year.
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Dudley Stow was re-elected as President for his 
second term in December 2008, as was Hylton 
Quail as Senior Vice President and Simon 
Watters as Vice President. Judith Fordham was 
elected by Council as Treasurer for her second 
term in February 2009.  This has provided 
stability to the Society during what has been a 
period of global uncertainty, and I would like to 
record my sincere appreciation to Dudley and 
his Executive team for their unquestionable 
commitment to the Society, its members and 
our staff.

I would also like to thank the Law Society 
Councils of 2008 and 2009 and our many 
committee members who volunteer countless 
hours of their time to enable the Society to do 
the very important work that it does.

Lastly, but by no means least, I would like to 
particularly acknowledge and thank all of the 
Society staff who have worked tirelessly to 
provide what has been a very successful year 
for the Law Society of Western Australia.  Thank 
you to each and every one of you.

David Price
Executive Director
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Governance
Annual General Meeting
The Society’s Annual General Meeting was held 
on Monday, 27 October 2008.

Council
Councillor Meeting Attendance 
1 July 2008 to 31 December 2008

Member Total Council 
meetings attended, 

inc. one special 
meeting (Total 7)

Dudley Stow 7
Hylton Quail 6
Simon Watters 4
Kenneth Bates 6
Judith Fordham 6
Nuala Keating 4
Dr Christopher 
Kendall

6

Matthew Keogh 6
Belinda Lonsdale 3
Carmel McKenzie 5
Denis McLeod 5
Rebecca O’Brien 5
Rhonda Parks 4
Steven Penglis 4
John Prior 5
Michelle Quigley 6
Maria Saraceni 6
Elizabeth Seggie 4
Shane Sirett 4
John Staude 6

Executive
The Executive, consisting of the President, 
Senior Vice President, Vice President, 
Treasurer and co-opted Council members met 
eight (8) times during the year.

Councillor Meeting Attendance 
1 January 2009 to 30 June 2009

Member Total Council 
meetings attended 

(Total 5)
Dudley Stow 5
Hylton Quail 5
Simon Watters 4
Judith Fordham 3
Pamela Hass 4
Dr Christopher 
Kendall

4

Greg McIntyre SC 2
Carmel McKenzie 5
Denis McLeod 5
Rhonda Parks 2
Steven Penglis 5
John Prior 4
Michelle Quigley 3
Maria Saraceni 4
Shane Sirett 3
Craig Slater 4
John Staude 5
Haley Allan 3
Jeremy Sher 3
Gabrielle Clarke (from 
02/09)

3

Co-Opted Councillors 2008/2009
Ken Bates – May to August 2008
Nuala Keating – September to December 2008
Steven Penglis – January to April 2009 
John Staude – May to August 2009
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Council as Trustees of Law Mutual
Councillor Meeting Attendance as Trustees of 
the Law Mutual Fund
1 July 2008 to 31 December 2008

Member Total Council 
meetings attended, 

inc. one special 
meeting (Total 3)

Dudley Stow 3
Hylton Quail 2
Simon Watters 1
Kenneth Bates 1
Judith Fordham 3
Nuala Keating 1
Dr Christopher 
Kendall

3

Matthew Keogh 3
Belinda Lonsdale 2
Carmel McKenzie 2
Denis McLeod 3
Rebecca O’Brien 2
Rhonda Parks 1
Steven Penglis 0
John Prior 3
Michelle Quigley 1
Maria Saraceni 2
Elizabeth Seggie 1
Shane Sirett 2
John Staude 3

Councillor Meeting Attendance as Trustees of 
the Law Mutual Fund 
1 January 2009 to 30 June 2009

Member Total Council 
meetings attended 

(Total 2)
Dudley Stow 2
Hylton Quail 2
Simon Watters 1
Judith Fordham 1
Pamela Hass 2
Dr Christopher 
Kendall

2

Greg McIntyre SC 1
Carmel McKenzie 2
Denis McLeod 2
Rhonda Parks 1
Steven Penglis 2
John Prior 2
Michelle Quigley 1
Maria Saraceni 0
Shane Sirett 1
Craig Slater 2
John Staude 1
Haley Allan 0
Jeremy Sher 2
Gabrielle Clarke (from 
02/09)

2
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Council as Trustees of the Public 
Purposes Trust
Councillor Meeting Attendance as Trustees of 
the Public Purposes Trust
1 July 2008 to 31 December 2008

Member Total Council 
meetings attended 

(Total 4)
Dudley Stow 4
Hylton Quail 3
Simon Watters 2
Kenneth Bates 3
Judith Fordham 4
Nuala Keating 2
Dr Christopher 
Kendall

4

Matthew Keogh 4
Belinda Lonsdale 1
Carmel McKenzie 2
Denis McLeod 1
Rebecca O’Brien 3
Rhonda Parks 2
Steven Penglis 1
John Prior 2
Michelle Quigley 3
Maria Saraceni 1
Elizabeth Seggie 2
Shane Sirett 2
John Staude 2

Councillor Meeting Attendance as Trustees of 
the Public Purposes Trust
1 January 2009 to 30 June 2009

Member Total Council 
meetings attended 

(Total 2)
Dudley Stow 2
Hylton Quail 2
Simon Watters 0
Judith Fordham 1
Pamela Hass 1
Dr Christopher 
Kendall

1

Greg McIntyre SC 1
Carmel McKenzie 2
Denis McLeod 2
Rhonda Parks 2
Steven Penglis 2
John Prior 1
Michelle Quigley 1
Maria Saraceni 2
Shane Sirett 1
Craig Slater 1
John Staude 2
Haley Allan 1
Jeremy Sher 1
Gabrielle Clarke (from 
02/09)

1
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Team Report - Business Support
In 2008/2009 the Society experienced its 
highest membership year which resulted in an 
operating surplus of $468,131, accumulated 
net assets of $1,920,789 and cash reserves of 
$2,284,387. In 2008/2009 the Society paid a 
capitation fee of $207,316 for membership of 
the Law Council of Australia. 
 
The charts below reflect the income and 
expenditure for the Society in 2008/2009:

Records Management System
The Society implemented Microsoft SharePoint 
for the purposes of records/document 
management, along with a dedicated server.  
The system provides a central repository of 
corporate information for the Society.

Website
During the year the Society planned, developed 
and implemented a new website which was 
launched in June 2009.  The new site allows for 
online interaction with the Society with online 
forms and payment facilities.  Members can 
log in to access members-only information, 
update their details and pay their membership 
online.  The site is constantly being updated 
with information for CPD, events and other 
resources.

Public Purposes 
Trust 
The Law Society is 
the trustee of the 
Public Purposes Trust.  
The trust’s financial 
and administrative 
functions are 
undertaken by the 
Business Support 
team.

During 2008/2009, the 
trust awarded grants 
totalling $2.6m.  Net 
profit for the period totalled $280,000 and 
accumulated net assets of $19.1m.  The trust 
has an active Investment Advisory Committee 
who manage the trust’s equity portfolio.

Legal Contribution Trust
The Legal Contribution Trust is the fidelity fund 
for WA and is an independent statutory trust 
established under the Legal Profession Act 
2008 (formerly Legal Contribution Trust Act 
1967).  The Law Society’s Business Support 
team provides financial and administrative 
support to the trust.

Income by Department 2008/2009

Membership Fees
39%CPD

23%

Policy & 
Professional

6%

Law Access
5%

Governance
0%

Membership 
Services

6%
FBLEC

7%

Business Support
14%

Expenditure by Department 2008/2009

Business Support
25%

FBLEC
8%

Membership 
Services

19%

Governance
16%

Law Access
5%

Policy & 
Professional

7%

CPD
20%

Vilma Ierace-Preen
Executive Manager, Business 
Support
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Team Report - Community Services
Francis Burt Law Education Centre 
and Old Court House Museum
The team at Francis Burt Law Education 
Centre (FBLEC) have done an excellent job in 
consolidating and developing the unique range 
of education and museum programs which are 
well patronised by a broad cross-section of the 
community.

More than 6,100 student and teacher visits were 
recorded for FBLEC in 2008 and over 2,800 
museum visitors recorded for the 2008/2009 
period.  In 2008 the centre was invited by the 
Supreme Court to participate in Open Day, 
a collaboration between Government House 
and the Supreme Court.  The Old Court House 
Museum opened on Sunday, 19 October 2008 
and received more than 1,150 visitors. 

2008/2009 saw the introduction of some 
exciting new programs and initiatives including 
new court induction workshops for court security 
staff and members of the Community Legal 
Education Workers Network as well as the 
development of new museum exhibits such as 
the John Gaven display which was presented 
as part of Museum Week in May 2009.

The Advisory Body chaired by Hon. Chief 
Justice Wayne Martin and its working 
groups in the areas of Education, Finance 
and Promotions, Oral History and Museum 
have provided important direction and input 
throughout the reporting period. Thanks to the 
efforts of convenors, committee members and 
staff, FBLEC and the museum have made great 
progress with new programs and initiatives over 
2008/2009.

The Society gratefully acknowledges the 
ongoing financial support of the Public 
Purposes Trust and the Department of 
Education in the funding of programs and 
positions at FBLEC and the museum.  The 
City of Perth also provided a one-off grant to 
assist with the John Gaven display and their 

assistance is also acknowledged.

Major Projects 
In the last reporting period FBLEC undertook 
the following projects:

School visits and tours• 
Educating the educator program• 
Court induction program• 
Joint Civics Regional Program• 
University students tours• 
Seniors Week• 

Major projects undertaken by the museum 
included:

Development of John Gaven Display for • 
Museum Week
Open Day Event• 
Seniors Week• 
Continuation of the Oral History project• 
Acquisition of new display items such as the • 
Supreme Court Jury Barrel

Inter-School Mock 
Trial Competition
The Inter-School Mock 
Trial Competition 
continues to provide an 
enjoyable and dynamic 
way of introducing 
students to the law.  
It provides students 
with an opportunity to 
learn valuable skills 
in research and the 
development and 
presentation of a 
persuasive argument.  
The cases are presented by two teams: a 
prosecution/plaintiff team and a defence 
team made up of students playing the roles 
of barristers, solicitors, witnesses and court 
officials.

525 student participants representing 65 teams 
hailing from 26 schools, plus 80 judges were 
involved in the 2008/2009 competition.  

Maxina Martellotta
Executive Manager, 
Community Services
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Sincere gratitude is extended to the many 
members of the profession who volunteered 
their services as case writers, coaches and 
judges. Without their contribution there would 
be no competition.

Law Access 

Community Networks
Law Access continues to be involved in a 
number of activities which are directed at 
enhancing access to legal services by members 
of the community.  This is done through our 
ongoing involvement and active participation 
with various projects and initiatives including:

The National Pro Bono Resource Centre;• 
The Country Lawyer Stakeholder Group;• 
The Stakeholders Consultative Committee;• 
Pro Bono Network Group; and• 
Involvement in working group to establish a • 
Western Australian Legal Assistance Forum.

Other initiatives include the development, 
publication and distribution of a pro bono 
brochure, development of new pro bono 
application forms for not-for-profit applicants, 
formation of the Pro Bono Network Group, 
meetings with the Community Legal Centres 
Solicitors and Legal Practice Group as well as 
Legal Aid Commission of Western Australia 
in order to network and inform agencies of 
services provided by Law Access.

Law Society Legal Referral Database
Law Access is responsible for the maintenance 
of the Legal Referral Database. More than 350 
law firms are registered on the database. In the 
period 1 July 2008 to 20 June 2009 a total of 
20,968 referrals were made from the database.  
Approximately 420 referrals are made each 
week to law firms.

Pro Bono Referral Service
Law Access Pro Bono Referral Service acts as 
a clearing house to help indigent litigants obtain 
legal assistance in areas of law where there is 
limited or no assistance available from Legal 
Aid or other agencies.  

The Access to Justice Committee continues to 
play an essential role in the assessment and 
support of the pro bono referral scheme.  The 
committee provides ongoing feedback upon the 
operation of the service as well as undertaking 
a role in maintaining the profile of the service 
both within the profession and wider community. 
The work of the committee is gratefully 
acknowledged.

The Access to Justice Committee has assessed 
51 applications for pro bono referral since 
January 2009. Of these applications, 27 
applications were held to have sufficient legal 
merit to warrant assistance ranging from advice 
to representation. Of these 27 applications, 19 
have been placed with a legal practitioner or 
firm. 



20 The Law Society of Western Australia - Annual Report 2008/2009

Team Report - Membership and Professional Development
The Law Society achieved a record 
membership of 3,120 members in 2008/2009 
and the Membership and Professional 
Development team was privileged to be 
involved with many of our members, both 
longstanding and new who attended the broad 
range of events, seminars and other initiatives 
conducted by the Society over the financial 
year.

Membership Services
The Society’s Strategic Plan 2008-2011 formed 
the basis of many of the Membership and 
Professional Development area’s projects and 
initiatives in the 2008/2009 financial year – with 
some very exciting outcomes.  

The Society’s comprehensive Membership Plan 
2009-2011 was approved by Council in April 
2009.  The Membership Plan comprises a range 
of key objectives and actions arising from the 
overarching strategies within Key Result Areas 
1 (High Value Membership) and 2 (Leaders in 
Continuing Professional Development) of the 
Society’s Strategic Plan which also impacts on 
the Strategic Plan’s other Key Result Areas.  

Enhanced and targeted communication with our 
members was one of the key objectives arising 
in the Membership Plan and the launch of the 
Society’s website in June 2009 is an exciting 
development in this area.  

The inaugural Membership Information 
Evening was held in August 2008 attracting 
more than 25 attendees keen to learn more 
about maximising their Society membership.  
Additionally Membership and CPD staff also 
attended the Society’s biennial Expo (organised 
by our Law Office Management Committee) to 
assist attendees with enquiries on membership 
and undertaking their CPD requirements via the 
Society’s extensive CPD program.

Our Membership team 
also continued their 
program of visits to our 
city, metropolitan and 
country area members.  
Members of Council’s 
Executive also visited 
several regional areas to 
speak with practitioners 
about the Society’s 
services and benefits. 

Membership information 
visits were made to all 
four of the University 
law schools, and 
Practical Legal Training providers - the Articles 
Training Program and College of Law.  

A new-look Membership Privilege Directory 
containing new and revitalised privilege offers 
for members was released for the 2008/2009 
year. New privileges were introduced in 
professional and practice service areas, motor 
vehicle, retail and lifestyle and were well 
received by members.  We look forward to 
ensuring that quality, value-added privileges are 
available to our membership.  

The Society was again active over the financial 
year in conducting a number of special 
occasion, social and sporting events for the 
profession.  Events included the reception 
for the Judiciary and 50 and 60 year post-
admission practitioners, held at the new District 
Court building.  We thank Her Honour Judge 
Antoinette Kennedy, Chief Judge of the District 
Court, and the Department of the Attorney 
General for their support in holding the event at 
the court.  

The 2009 President’s Cocktail Party held in 
June extended the previous format to include 
a members-only invitation.  Life Members 
of the Society were also honoured with the 
presentation of certificates on the evening.  

Kelly Hick
Executive Manager, 
Membership and Professional 
Development
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Continuing Professional Development
The Society’s extensive planning and 
development in this area over recent years, 
building on its longstanding foundation and 
reputation for delivering high quality continuing 
legal education, meant it was well positioned 
to assist practitioners in meeting their CPD 
requirements in 2008/2009 with the inaugural 
mandatory CPD year from 1 April 2008 to 31 
March 2009 (extended to 31 May 2009, with 
CPD points credited from April 2007).  

The recently implemented Learning 
Management System (LMS) ensured the 
Society’s CPD program was available to anyone 
at anytime, providing practitioners in city, 
regional or remote areas with access to online 
registration, online seminars (electronically 
capturing our face-to-face seminar content), 
interactive learning programs and the ability 
to have CPD points accrued with the Society 
tracked and recorded and certificates provided 
for record-keeping and audit purposes.

The Society’s CPD seminar program, under 
the stewardship of the Education Committee, 
developed and delivered 47 face-to-face 
seminars covering a range of practice and CPD 
competency areas during 2008/2009.  The 
Society also conducted a Costs School and two 
Legal Assistants’ Training Courses during the 
year.  The Young Lawyers’ Committee Basics 
Series, Advocacy Workshop and Advocacy 
Weekend together with Law Office Management 
educational seminars also offered 18 further 
broad-based programs attracting CPD points.  

With the generous support of the Courts and 
Tribunal Services of the Department of the 
Attorney General and the District Court, the 
Society conducted two videoconference pilots 
to the regions in December 2008 (Ethical 
Considerations of Litigation) and April 2009 
(The Legal Profession Act 2008 – Overview of 
Changes), beaming live by video link from the 

District Court’s Ceremonial Court to regional 
courthouses in Albany, Bunbury, Geraldton and 
Kalgoorlie.  

The Society is grateful for the time, effort and 
expertise of the Education Committee and 
its advisory bodies, together with the many 
presenters involved in the quality CPD program 
offered by the Society.

A highlight of the Society’s CPD calendar 
was the 2009 Law Summer School – a joint 
undertaking of the Law Society and the 
University of Western Australia’s law school.  
Held at the University Club in February 2009, 
Law Summer School offered an excellent 
program of national and local speakers and 
the opportunity to secure seven CPD points 
in one day, and was a sell-out well in advance 
of the event date.  Preparations have now 
commenced for the 2010 Law Summer School 
program and our sincere thanks are extended 
to the organising committee.  
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Team Report - Policy and Professional Services
The Policy and Professional Services Team 
provides secretarial services to 23 of the 
Society’s standing committees and primarily 
the committees that consider issues of law and 
professional conduct.

The substantial amount of work carried out by 
these committees in 2008/2009 is reported in 
the Committee Reports document and a list 
of Society submissions feature in this annual 
report. 

In addition, the team assists the Society’s 
Council in considering issues relating to the 
regulation of the profession. 

Legal Profession Act 2008 and 
Legal Profession Regulations 2009
In August 2008, at the request of the Solicitor 
General, the Society made a submission on 
adapting for Western Australia, the Law Council 
of Australia Model Regulations. 

In late November 2008 the Solicitor General 
provided the Society, in confidence, with draft 
Legal Profession Regulations 2008. This draft, 
although based on the Model Regulations, 
took into account submissions made to the 
Solicitor General by the Society, the Legal 
Practice Board and the Western Australia Bar 
Association.  The Society’s submission on this 
draft was forwarded to the Solicitor General on 
4 February 2009.  

The Solicitor General subsequently advised 
that the Legal Profession Act 2008 would come 
into effect on 1 March 2009 but that Transitional 
Regulations would defer the commencement 
of Part 10, ‘Costs and Assessment’, until 1 July 
2009. The Transitional Regulations were made 
available to the Society on a confidential basis 
on the afternoon of Monday, 22 February. It 
was determined that the transitional provisions 
did not reflect their intention. Regulation 122 
provided that a practitioner could enter into a 

valid costs agreement 
even if disclosure was 
not given in terms of the 
Act, but if a practitioner 
did not enter into a costs 
agreement, the obligation 
to give disclosure was 
not affected and the 
billing and assessment 
provisions of the Act also 
applied. 

The Society arranged 
an urgent meeting with 
the Solicitor General, 
also attended by representatives of the Legal 
Practice Board and Parliamentary Counsel.  On 
Friday, 27 February 2009, a new regulation 122 
was approved by the Attorney General and the 
Governor and gazetted the same day in the 
form of Amendment Regulations. 

Law Society Costs Kit
In early 2009, with the assistance of the 
Society’s Costs Committee, the Law Society 
Costs Kit was revised to take into account the 
provisions of the Legal Profession Act 2008 
and the Legal Profession Regulations 2009. 
The revised Costs Kit (dated 9 March 2009) 
comprises: 

Offer by Law Practice to enter into Costs 1. 
Agreement; 
Explanatory Notes for Clients; and 2. 
Explanatory Notes for Law Practices – 3. 
Disclosure and Costs Agreements. 

The fact sheets for Forms 2 (‘Legal Costs – 
Your Right to Know’) and Form 3 (‘Form of 
Notification of Clients’ Rights’) of Schedule 
1 of the Legal Profession Regulations 2009 
were also prepared with the assistance of the 
Society’s Costs Committee, in conjunction with 
the Legal Practice Board. 

Andrea Lace
Executive Manager, Policy 
and Professional Services
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Legal Profession Rules
One of the traditional roles of the Society’s 
Ethics Committee has been to interpret and 
update the Society’s Professional Conduct 
Rules. The Legal Profession Act 2008 provides 
for the making of conduct rules by the Legal 
Practice Board. 

In 2008 the Board established a Legal 
Profession Rules Advisory Committee on 
which the Society has four representatives.  
It was originally proposed by the Board that 
Legal Profession Rules for Western Australia 
would come into effect at the same time as 
the Legal Profession Act 2008.  However, in 
late 2009, the Directors of the Law Council of 
Australia established a Working Group to revise 
the Law Council Model Rules with a view to 
their adoption in each state and territory. The 
Society is represented on the Working Group. 
The Board’s Legal Profession Rules Advisory 
Committee has been kept fully informed and 
has made submissions to the Law Council’s 
Working Party. 

At the time of writing it is not known when 
Conduct Rules for Western Australia will come 
into effect.

The Voice of the Legal Profession in 
Western Australia
The Society acts as the voice of the legal 
profession in Western Australia through the 
numerous submissions made to government 
ministers, agencies and other entities. Requests 
for comment are constantly received by the 
Society but the time provided for comment 
is generally extremely short.  As a result the 
President wrote to all government ministers and 
departments requesting that adequate time be 
given to the Society to properly reflect on the 
matters presented and to drafting a response. 
The President’s request appears to have fallen 
on ‘deaf ears’. It is only because of the absolute 

commitment of committee members that time 
limits are able to be met and that the Society 
is able to maintain this role on behalf of the 
profession.  

Mentoring Program for Junior 
Practitioners
The Mentoring Program for junior practitioners 
is open to certificated practitioners who have 
been admitted for less than five years.  After a 
lapse of three years due to lack of funding, the 
program was reintroduced in 2008 thanks to 
funding from the members of the Corporate Law 
Firms Association of Perth (CLAP).

The program is coordinated by the Policy and 
Professional Services team and the program 
facilitator is Barbara Holland, a management 
consultant with many years experience. Ms 
Holland provides training for both mentors and 
mentees, matches the mentors and mentees 
and maintains regular contact with both during 
the term of each program to ensure that it is 
running satisfactorily.

In 2008 and 2009, 11 mentors and mentees 
were matched. In 2008 the program ran 
between May and December. The feedback 
from participants was very positive.  The 2009 
program runs between July 2009 and March 
2010. 

The Society thanks the following firms for 
their continued support of this program – 
Allens Arthur Robinson, Blake Dawson, Corrs 
Chambers Westgarth, Clayton Utz, DLA Phillips 
Fox, Freehills, Jackson McDonald, Lavan Legal, 
Mallesons Stephen Jaques and Minter Ellison.
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Team Report - Law Mutual
The professional indemnity insurance market 
in 2008/2009 saw little movement from the 
premium levels in the previous year and Council 
was able to hold both the contribution and 
administration fee payable per practitioner at 
2007/2008 levels

The contribution payable per principal of $5,010 
is 4% lower than the 2006/2007 rate of $5,204 
and 33% lower than when the contribution rate 
peaked at $7,494 in 2004/2005.

Council also determined that the administration 
fee payable per practitioner would remain at 
$990 per practitioner.

For the 2008/2009 insurance year, Law Mutual 
again placed the professional indemnity 
insurance arrangement with QBE Insurance,  
AIG and Lloyds-syndicated DA Constable.

There has been a continuing downward trend 
in claims which in part can be contributed to the 
Risk Management Program.  Risk Management 
seminars with the theme “Deadline 
Management” were conducted 40 times in both 
the city and country, with approximately 1,800 
legal practitioners attending. 

Andrew Mawby
Executive Manager, Finance 
and Administration

Anne Durack
Executive Manager, Claims 
and Risk
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Committee Reports
Access to Justice Committee
The committee is convened by Rick Cullen. In 
the past year the new Law Access scheme, 
approved by the Law Society in early 2008, 
was established. Members of the Access to 
Justice Committee determine merit for referral 
for pro bono assistance and the committee as a 
whole constitutes an appeals committee. At first 
instance applications for pro bono assistance 
are reviewed by an administrative officer who 
works under the supervision of the Society’s 
Executive Manager Community Services. 

Another significant development was the 
formation of the WA Legal Assistance Forum 
which combines the forces of the Law Society, 
the WA Bar Association and the Aboriginal 
Community Legal Service under the umbrella of 
Legal Aid WA.  

Another access to justice initiative was the 
establishment, by Legal Aid WA, of a Litigation 
Assistance Fund which will operate in a similar 
way to the Litigation Assistance Fund operated 
by the Society (the “LAF”) in the 1990s. 
Approximately $600,000 of the seeding funds 
of $1.15m came from the LAF which has been 
wound up. With the administrative support of 
Legal Aid WA it is hoped that this fund will be 
able to provide assistance to needy plaintiffs for 
many years to come.

On a national level, committee member 
Greg McIntyre SC was appointed by the 
Commonwealth Attorney General to his 
Pro Bono Task Force and Rick Cullen, as a 
member of the Law Council’s Access to Justice 
Committee, is assisting with the planning of the 
biennial National Access to Justice Conference 
in Brisbane in 2010.

Accreditation Committee 
The committee, convened by Trevor O’Sullivan, 
advises the Law Society on the rules and 
regulations that govern the granting of 
accreditation and acts as the advisory board 
for family law accreditation, the only area of 
specialist practice in which Society members 
can currently be accredited. Consideration 
has been given to broadening the specialist 
accreditation areas, but thus far there has 
been insufficient interest from members of the 
profession.

The examination process in family law is 
conducted on a national basis. The standard 
is very high.  37 Accredited Family Law 
Practitioners from Western Australia are 
expected to meet their requirements for the 
accreditation year and seven new candidates 
applied for accreditation.
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Administrative Law, Constitutional 
Law and Migration Law Committee 
The Committee Convenor is Michelle Hullett. 
At a state level, the committee is currently 
considering the Report of the Legislative 
Council’s Standing Committee on Legislation 
following its inquiry into the jurisdiction and 
operation of State Administrative Tribunal 
(SAT). The committee considered in general 
terms a proposal to transfer residential tenancy 
matters currently heard in the Magistrates 
Courts to the SAT and the recommendations of 
Gail Archer SC in her review of the Corruption 
& Crime Commission Act 2003. The committee 
continues to monitor proposed legislative 
changes, following the change of government, 
and the foreshadowed increased role of the 
CCC.

At a federal level, the committee continued to 
monitor the debate concerning the proposed 
Commonwealth Bill of Rights and met with 
the Human Rights Committee in relation to its 
position paper for the National Human Rights 
Consultation headed by Father Frank Brennan. 
It also considered the exposure drafts of two 
Bills issued by the Commonwealth Information 
Commissioner. 

At both a federal and state level, the committee 
considered the Draft Code of Professional 
Ethics and Practice for the Australian Migration 
Advice Profession, the new Office of Migration 
Agents Registration Authority, proposed 
directions of the Administrative Appeals Tribunal 
relating to taxation of costs and guidelines 
relating to opinion evidence, and the State 
government’s proposal for amalgamation of 
local councils.

Alternative Dispute Resolution 
Committee 
The committee, convened by Laurie James, 
met five times in 2008/2009. Its activities during 
the reporting period included: 

Recommending the appointment of persons 1. 
to a panel of mediators, arbitrators and 
experts suitable for nomination by the 
President of the Law Society.
Putting forward a proposal to the Council 2. 
that the Law Society should become a 
Recognised Mediator Accrediting Body 
(RMAB) under the National Mediator 
Accreditation Scheme.
Preparing a draft submission for the Law 3. 
Society in relation to the NADRAC Issues 
Paper on alternative dispute resolution in the 
civil justice system.
Preparing an urgent submission in relation to 4. 

the proposed uniform Commercial Arbitration 
Legislation for domestic arbitrations – with 
reference to the UNCITRAL Model Law on 
International Commercial Arbitrations.

In addition, committee members conducted a 
Law Society CPD seminar, in workshop format, 
on ‘Ethics and ADR’ which attracted such a 
degree of interest that a further seminar of 
similar type is scheduled for the current year.
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Articled Clerk Recruitment Scheme 
Monitoring Committee 
The committee, convened in 2008/2009 by 
Janine Pritchard, administers the Society’s 
Recruitment Monitoring Scheme. The scheme 
provides a recruitment framework for Articled 
Clerks and Vacation Clerks with which law 
practices and organisations are requested to 
comply.  

The scheme’s key objective is to provide a 
framework for the timing of the interview and 
offer stages of the recruitment process to 
ensure a level of simplicity and certainty for 
students, university law schools and potential 
employers. Under the scheme, there are 
separate recruitment periods for Articled Clerks 
and Vacation Clerks, the dates for which are 
set by the committee, together with the dates 
on which offers may be made (and for how long 
the offers are to remain open).  

Ms Pritchard (now Judge Pritchard) retired 
from the committee in late June 2009 following 
her appointment as the Deputy President 
of the State Administrative Tribunal.  The 
Society’s sincere thanks are extended to Judge 
Pritchard for her significant contribution as 
both committee member and, since 2005, as 
Committee Convenor. Associate Professor Jane 
Power is now Convenor.

During 2008/2009 the committee undertook 
a comprehensive review of the scheme in 
consultation with the scheme’s broad range of 
stakeholders. On 6 April 2009, the Society’s 
Council approved changes to the scheme’s 
2010 recruitment dates. These changes 
involved both vacation clerkship and articled 
clerkship recruitment conducted mid-year with 
the recruitment processes to be effectively 
conducted ‘back-to-back’ and provided a 
‘transitional year’ for re-alignment of winter 
clerkship recruitment with the new dates.

Brief Editorial Committee 
The Committee Convenor is Ronald Bower. 
During the reporting year, 11 editions of Brief 
magazine were produced. Editorial material 
for publication in the magazine continues to be 
sourced from WA practitioners who voluntarily 
write and submit articles and reports, and from 
those who agree to write articles on topics 
proposed by the committee. Occasionally the 
committee identifies articles by practitioners 
from national firms’ offices in other states and 
from other legal publications (with these items 
being used by permission.) Most authors 
are barristers or solicitors in private practice. 
Committee members number among the 
authors, although decisions to publish items are 
based solely on the merits of the items being 
considered.

The committee membership comprises 
members of the amalgam in the city and the 

country, members of the independent bar 
and government and corporate practitioners. 
Because the magazine is the official journal 
of the Law Society, the committee not only 
endeavours to acquire and publish the best-
quality editorial material but also in conformity 
with Law Society standards, objectives and 
culture.  

During the reporting period the committee 
ensured that it published a reasonable quantity 
and nature of material of interest and relevance 
to young practitioners. The young practitioners 
on the committee make a very valuable 
contribution to its work. In a recent committee 
meeting the decision was taken to apply a more 
formal and forward-planned approach to the 
young practitioner readership, so that in the 
near future the magazine will carry a dedicated 
young practitioner section several times per 
year.
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Clear Writing Committee 
The committee, convened by Professor Neil 
McLeod, was established in 1996 to promote 
clear writing by the legal profession of Western 
Australia.

Since 1998 the committee has run a plain 
English drafting competition for law students.  
The competition has been incorporated 
into courses at Murdoch University and the 
University of Western Australia. Hundreds 
of students attempt the problem set for the 
competition.

The committee judges the entries. There is an 
initial selection process at Murdoch University 

and UWA.  Students are also able to enter the 
competition independently of this selection 
process. The winners receive a cash prize of 
$150 and a certificate.

In 2009 two of the six prizes were reserved 
for students in their first year of study towards 
a law degree. Those prizes were awarded to 
Sophie van Hattem a student at the University 
of Western Australia and Russell Boulton a 
student at Murdoch University. The four open 
prizes were awarded to Kate Jamieson, Alex 
Ripper, Rhiarne Bruce and Sebastian Sharp, all 
students at the University of Western Australia.

Commercial Law Committee 
The committee’s role is to report and make 
recommendations to the Council on commercial 
issues of significance to the Society and its 
members.  The Convenor is Rachel Webber.

The committee has representatives on a 
number of liaison groups:

State Revenue• 
Consumer Protection• 
Insolvency• 
ASIC• 
Law Council of Australia, Business Law • 
Section, Corporations Law Committee

In 2008/2009, the committee considered a wide 
range of commercial issues and monitored 
legal developments and the progress of 
new legislation in relation to a number of 
different subject areas including the proposed 
amendment to the Trade Practices Act 1974, 
the proposed introduction of the Personal 
Property Securities legislation,  the green 
paper  on Financial Services and Credit 

Reform, the effect of costs provisions under 
the Legal Profession Act 2008 on Insolvency 
Practitioners, and independent solicitors’ 
certificates. In relation to the latter, the 
committee proposed that a new Professional 
Conduct Rule be added to the Law Society of 
Western Australia Professional Conduct Rules, 
based upon Rule 45 in the New South Wales 
Professional Conduct Rules. This resulted in the 
Society introducing Rule 28 of the Professional 
Conduct Rules. 

The committee contributed to submissions or 
responses from the Society in relation to the 
following:

Inquiry into the Franchising Code of Conduct • 
– Parliamentary Joint Committee on 
Corporations and Financial Services
Proposals for an Australian Consumer Law • 
– COAG
Access to Share Registers and the • 
regulation of Off-market Share Offers - The 
Treasury.
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Costs Committee 
The committee, convened by Stewart Forbes, 
spent a considerable amount of time and 
effort in reviewing and providing submissions 
in relation to the Legal Profession Act 2008 
(Act) draft regulations under the Act and forms 
promulgated in terms of the regulations.  

The Act came into effect on 1 March 2009. Draft 
regulations and transitional regulations required 
urgent attention and consultation by members 
of the Costs Committee with representatives 
from the Legal Practice Board and ultimately 
with the Solicitor General.  Eventually the 
transitional regulations were amended on very 
short notice so that the costs disclosure and 
costs agreement provisions of the Act only 
became mandatory with effect from 1 July 2009. 
Members of the committee have been involved 
on an ongoing basis in providing seminars in 
relation to the far reaching changes to solicitor/
client costs issues brought about by the Act.  

One of the primary roles of the Costs 
Committee is to make recommendations to 
the Society’s Council in relation to reviews 
conducted by the statutory Legal Costs 
Committee (LCC). As a result of investigations 
carried out by the Costs Committee the Society 
submitted that scales for both the Family Court 
and the State Administrative Tribunal should 
provide for market related hourly rates rather 

than for detailed items.  These submissions 
were accepted. The new Family Court Scale in 
particular was welcomed by the overwhelming 
majority of family law practitioners.  The Society 
also made submissions to the LCC’s review of 
costs scales for Public Notaries and Accused’s 
Costs in Official Prosecutions.

Other matters considered by the committee in 
2008/2009 included:

Costs in workers’ compensation proceedings• 
Costs of acquitted persons in criminal cases• 
Liaison with the Joint Costs Advisory • 
Committee of the Law Council of Australia 
in relation to costs scales in Commonwealth 
courts.

Members of the committee attended meetings 
and forums to obtain information and to provide 
feedback on behalf of the Society on various 
topics including the COAG Licensing System for 
Specified Occupations, the COAG Consumer 
Protection National Reform Agenda and various 
ASIC and DOCEP initiatives.  
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Country Practitioners Committee 
The Country Practitioners Committee, 
convened by Carmel McKenzie, has members 
from Geraldton, Kalgoorlie, Bunbury, Narrogin 
and Albany.  The committee meets by 
teleconference, as required, to discuss issues 
facing country practitioners.

The committee met by teleconference in 
October 2008 and discussed matters pertaining 
to:

Access to CPD and the allocation of CPD • 
points;

Stamp duty facilities needed in country • 
areas;
Recruitment and Retention of Lawyers in • 
country areas.

In May 2009 the Convenor attended by 
teleconference a lunch meeting between the 
Society’s Executive and the Chief Judge of 
the District Court. Topics discussed pertaining 
to country practitioners included resourcing 
for and the shortage of practitioners in some 
country locations and ways to improve country 
courts/circuits.

Criminal Law Committee 
2008/2009 was an extremely busy year for the 
committee, convened by John Prior, given the 
change in state government.  The committee 
made submissions on many substantial areas 
of criminal law including the following:

Double Jeopardy Law Reform - Submission • 
was made to the State Attorney General in 
relation to the proposed amendments to the 
Criminal Appeals Act 2004.
Costs in Criminal Matters in Superior • 
Courts - As a result of the costs disclosure 
obligations in the Legal Profession Act 2008 
it became evident that it would be useful to 
have a scale that applies to criminal matters 
in superior courts. 
Community Protection (Offender Reporting) • 
Act 2004 - The committee endorsed the 
submission made by the Legal Aid Youth 
Law Unit that there should be discretion in 
the Act for a court not to make the provisions 
of the Act apply when offences have been 
committed by juveniles.
Indeterminate Sentences - Following • 
an article by Mr Robert Lindsay in Brief 
concerning a prisoner who tragically died 
in custody, having served a considerable 
period of time under indefinite term of 

imprisonment, the committee is making 
inquiries and intends to submit that the 
Sentencing Act 1995 be amended to allow a 
right of judicial review for sentences of this 
nature.
Prohibited Behaviour Orders - A preliminary • 
discussion paper was provided by the 
Attorney General.  A detailed submission 
was made highlighting concerns.

The committee has been monitoring the quality 
of transcripts in the District Court, considering 
draft legislation to target organised groups 
(such as bikie gangs) and whether such 
proposed laws will have significant negative 
impact on persons’ civil rights, and has 
nominated a delegate to the Child Witness 
Committee of the District Court looking at 
possible amendments to the Evidence Act 
to further assist child complainants giving 
evidence in criminal prosecutions for sexual 
offences and appropriate cross examination 
questions by the accused or their counsel of 
child complainants.

The committee, in conjunction with the 
Education Committee, held seminars in 
relation to the Criminal Property Confiscation 
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Courts Committee 
The committee, convened by Steven Penglis, 
continues to provide a regular point of contact 
between the Law Society and the Federal 
Court, Supreme Court, District Court and 
Magistrates’ Court and, to a lesser extent, 
the High Court and the State Administrative 
Tribunal. The open dialogue which the Courts 
Committee enjoys with these courts has 
resulted in the number of major issues which 
it has had to deal with remaining significantly 
reduced from the number that the Courts 
Committee dealt with some years ago.

The effectiveness of the open lines of 
communication between the Law Society and 

the courts is largely as a result of the courts 
being represented on the committee. The 
contribution of Registrar Jan, Principal Registrar 
Chapman, Registrar Kingsley, Magistrate 
Bromfield and Senior Member Carey of the 
State Administrative Tribunal is acknowledged.

The committees encourage any member of the 
Society who may have any comment, criticism, 
commendation or recommendation arising from 
their day to day contact with and experiences 
before the federal and state courts and tribunals 
to feel free to communicate them to the 
committee for consideration and, if considered 
appropriate, action.

Act, amendments to the Evidence Act relating 
to children’s evidence, the new Prosecution 
Rights of Appeal and the various amendments 
made to the laws of homicide in the Criminal 
Code, following the Law Reform Commission 
of Western Australia’s recommendations. The 
committee also was able to arrange through 
the Supreme Court of Western Australia a very 

popular set of four seminars held in November 
and December 2008, in relation to Court of 
Appeal advocacy where members of the 
Court of Appeal and Senior Counsel who were 
experienced appellate advocates, presented.
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Education Committee 
The committee is convened by Gregory Boyle. 
In 2008/2009, 54 face-to-face CPD learning 
events, inclusive of Law Summer School 
2009, were held. The committee successfully 
increased the number of CPD learning events in 
response to the profession’s new requirements 
following the passing of the Legal Profession 
Act 2008. The number of attendees at these 
CPD learning events totalled 3,600 with an 
average attendance for each event being 66 
people.

In addition to the mainstream CPD Learning 
Events the CPD department has made an array 
of alternative learning methods available to all 
aspects of the profession:

One Costs School was held in May 2009 • 
Two video conferences streamed to • 
the  regional centres of Bunbury, Albany, 
Kalgoorlie and Geraldton 
Two Legal Assistants’ Training Courses were • 

held with a total of 29 students graduating 
37 online-delivered seminars available • 
through the Learning Management System 
(LMS) 
Creation of an online document library • 
facilitating the Costs Guide by David 
Garnsworthy – minimising the environmental 
impact of the profession.        

The Education Committee is highly appreciative 
to those who gave generously of their time 
and expertise during the 2008/2009 year in the 
form of chairing or presenting at CPD learning 
events. Their generosity ensured that the 
profession of Western Australia was delivered 
a sufficient amount of relevant and interesting 
CPD topics during this period.

Employee Relations Committee 
In 2008/2009 the committee, convened by 
Stephen Kemp, drafted submissions on the 
draft Employment Dispute Resolution Act 2008 
and the draft Employment Dispute Resolution 
Regulations.

The committee updated sections of the 
Society’s guide for practitioners setting up their 
own practice and proposed a CPD seminar in 
conjunction with the Law Council of Australia 
addressing the federal government’s new 
industrial relations laws. 

Members of the committee have also been 
active on a Society committee which, with Edith 
Cowan University, has prepared a survey for 
the legal profession on bullying.
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Environment, Town Planning and 
Local Government Committee 
The committee is convened by Denis McLeod. 
The committee met six times since the last 
report, but much of its work again has been 
done by sub-committees formed on an ad hoc 
basis when special issues arose.  One of the 
sub-committees completed and reported on its 
review of a private member’s draft Bill for third 
party planning appeals. Another sub-committee 
prepared submissions to the state government 
for reform of the environmental appeals system, 
to bring environmental appeals into the SAT 
jurisdiction.

The committee considered all new written 
laws within its reference areas, referred to it 
for consideration, and prepared Law Society 
communications with state government 

departments relating to timely requests for 
comments and other assistance by the Society 
on proposed new written laws; reviewed 
environmental, planning and local government 
topics for the Society’s CPD program; and 
continued liaison and membership contact with 
the Law Council of Australia’s Environmental 
and Planning Law Group.

The committee continued contact with the 
Law Reform Commission in regard to its 
Report on Injurious Affection, and prepared 
correspondence for the Society to state 
government to support the Commission’s 
proposed reforms.

Equal Opportunity Committee 
In 2008/2009 the committee, convened by 
Ilse Petersen, joined representatives of other 
committees to consider bullying within the legal 
profession. The resultant survey, prepared in 
conjunction with Edith Cowan University, was 
recently issued.

Mrs Elizabeth Heenan has throughout the 
year informed the committee of the progress 
of the Law Council of Australia’s Equalising 
Opportunity Committee.

The committee has identified a number of 
matters which should engage the committee in 
the year ahead, including anti-organised crime 
legislation.
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Ethics Committee 
In February 2009 Michael Corboy SC resigned 
as Convenor and committee member. Thanks 
are extended to Mr Corboy for many years of 
service to the committee.  In March 2009, Julian 
Sher was appointed Convenor.

A traditional role of the Ethics Committee has 
been to make recommendations to the Society’s 
Council with respect to the Law Society of 
Western Australia Professional Conduct Rules. 
The Legal Profession Act 2008 gives the Legal 
Practice Board the power to make statutory 
conduct rules. In 2008 the Board established 
a Legal Profession Rules Advisory Committee. 
The Ethics Committee is represented among 
the Society’s representatives on this advisory 
committee.  The introduction of statutory 
conduct rules has been deferred by the Board 
whilst it considers the proposals of a Model 

Rules Working Party established by the Law 
Council of Australia. 

In 2009 the committee directed its emphasis 
towards education on ethical issues. Two 
proposed seminars were submitted to the 
Education Committee, a considerable amount 
of work was done towards completion of ‘Ethical 
and Practice Guidelines’ and the committee 
undertook to review the Society’s ‘List of 
Courtesies’. 

The committee also discussed updating the 
membership of the Senior Advisors Panel. The 
Convenor is to meet with the President of the 
WA Bar Association to discuss the advisory role 
of silks.

General Conditions for the Sale of 
Land Joint Committee 
The Convenor of the Joint General Conditions 
for the Sale of Land Committee is Gregory 
Boyle. Following the 2002 revision there were 
a number of legislative changes and various 
practical issues that arose were considered 
in meetings of the Society’s representatives. 
A table of proposed amendments to the 2002 
revision was discussed with the committee’s 
REIWA representatives and approved.

Drafting of the 2009 revision commenced in 
2008. Between January and March 2009 the 
Society’s members met on numerous occasions 
to prepare the new revision which was 
forwarded to REIWA on 20 March 2009.  

After consideration of issues raised by REIWA, 
the 2009 revision was approved by the 
Society’s Council in June 2009 and became 
available in July 2009.

Finance Committee
Following recommendations from the Society’s 
strategic plan a Finance Committee was 
established and has met several times during 
2008/2009. 

The committee is convened by Dudley Stow 
and is currently looking at implementing an 
Investment Policy for the Society.
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Human Rights Committee 
The Human Rights Committee, convened by 
Greg McIntyre SC, during the course of this 
year prepared submissions for the Council of 
the Law Society on the following topics:

Public Health Bill for WA1. 
Optional Protocol to the Convention 2. 
Against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman 
or Degrading Treatment or Punishment – 
National Interest Analysis 
Nomination for the 2008 Human Rights 3. 
Medals and Awards 

Position Paper on an Australian Human 4. 
Rights Act
National Human Rights Consultation 5. 
Committee Submission – based on the 
Position Paper on an Australian Human 
Rights Act.

Items 2 and 4 formed the Society’s contribution 
to submissions by the Law Council of Australia 
on those topics. 

Insolvency and Reconstruction 
Committee 
The committee is a joint committee of the Law 
Society of Western Australia and the Business 
Law Section of the Law Council of Australia. 
The committee, convened by Alison Robertson, 
met monthly throughout the year. The agenda is 
produced by the Law Council of Australia.

The committee considered and contributed to 
the following national reviews:

Bankruptcy Legislation Amendment Bill • 
Personal Property Securities Bill• 
Proposed merger of Federal Magistrates • 
Court and the Federal Court
Amendments to section 9 definition of • 
‘relation back date’ in the Corporations Act
Liability of liquidators for GST and proposed • 
retrospective legislation
Section 218 ‘garnishee’ notices from the • 
ATO and the Full Federal Court decision 
in Commissioner of Taxation and Bruton 
Holdings Pty Ltd  
Submission to the Minister on proposed • 
insolvency trading law reform. 

The committee liaised formally and informally 
with ASIC, the Insolvency Practitioners 
Association and the Insolvency and Trustee 
Service Australia. In addition, the committee 
members, at each meeting, by way of 
information sharing, discussed recent cases 
within the bankruptcy and corporate insolvency 
contexts. 

The Convenor attended the Business Law 
Section of the Law Council of Australia 
Workshop for Committee Chairs, Deputy 
Chairs and members of the Section Executive, 
and presented a paper at the Annual National 
Workshop for Insolvency and Reconstruction 
Committees of the Business Law Section of the 
Law Council of Australia.
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Intellectual Property Committee 
In 2008/2009 the committee’s former Convenor, 
Richard McCormack, retired. The substantial 
work done by Mr McCormack over his many 
years as Convenor is much appreciated.  
Following the appointment of Dr David Cox 
as Convenor, steps were taken to expand the 
committee’s membership to ensure it can meet 
its aims which are to provide effective advocacy 
on matters concerning intellectual property, to 
provide CPD seminars on both the basics of 
intellectual property and recent developments 
of the same, to assist the Law Society with 
regard to any intellectual property issues which 
may affect the Society and to keep abreast of 
changes in statute law, both in Australia and 
international jurisdictions.

In the reporting period the committee organised 
a successful seminar on basic Trade Mark, 
Copyright and Patent Law.  

Issues that continue to be addressed by the 
committee include:

The need for an accreditation system for • 
lawyers practising in the area of intellectual 
property; and
Working in conjunction with the Federal • 
Court (especially with the Hon Justice 
Siopis), and also the Intellectual Property 
Society of Australia and New Zealand 
(IPSANZ) in relation to promoting 
awareness of matters of interest in the 
area of intellectual property to the legal and 
patent attorney professions.

Joint Law Society/Women Lawyers 
Committee 
The committee, convened by Elizabeth 
Needham, is a liaison group between the 
Women Lawyers Association and the Law 
Society. Members include representatives from 
WLWA, the Young Lawyers Committee and 
the Law Society (including the Law Council’s 
Equalising Opportunity Committee).

The committee receives reports from each of 
its representatives on what is happening locally 
and nationally. It then considers whether there 
are issues arising from those reports that it can 
usefully look into and make recommendations 
on to the Law Society Council.

The committee considered a number of issues 
this year including:

Emergency care services – Having • 
obtained information about the existence of 
programs interstate, the committee gathered 

information on a possible pilot project for the 
Law Society. 
Flexible working arrangements – The • 
committee considered and prepared a paper 
with guidelines and checklists for creating a 
manageable flexible working environment. 
The committee also prepared an appropriate 
article for Brief on the success of such 
working environments.
Women opting out of the law – This remains • 
a key issue. Despite the Gender Bias Report 
and its recommendations, anecdotally 
women still leave the legal profession in 
what seems to be disproportionate numbers. 
The committee is committed to the review of 
this report supported by the Chief Justice. 
Another committee member and I were • 
active participants on the committee 
established to prepare a survey on bullying.

The committee continues to encourage 
women to be a voice that is heard in the legal 
profession.
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Law Office Management Committee 
2008/2009 was another busy year for the 
committee, convened by Corene Baird. The 
work of the committee in 2008/2009 included:

Conducting the 2009 Annual Salary Survey• 
Presenting seminars on:• 

 - Giving and Receiving Feedback 
 - Generation Gaps 
 - IT For Law Firms 
 - Risk Management for Support Staff   
 Seminar. 
The committee also arranged seminars on 
‘Basic and Advanced Free Legal Information 
Online’ and ‘Presenting with PowerPoint – How 
to Avoid Being Instantly Forgettable’ to be held 
in the coming year.

Functions and events held were: • 
 - Law Office Management Cocktails held  
 in February 2009;
 - 3rd Law Office Management Expo
 ‘Stay Connected’ held on Friday, 15 
 August 2008 at the Rydges which 
 concluded with cocktails and the 
 announcement of the Outstanding 
 Contribution Award to Vienna Young from 
 DS Family Law.

LAWASIA Committee 
The focus of the committee, convened by 
Kanaga Dharmananda, has been to monitor 
developments in the LAWASIA community 
of countries at meetings and through email 
discussions.

This year the LAWASIA Committee, with 
the support and assistance of the Hon Chief 
Justice Wayne Martin, held a sundowner at 
the Supreme Court of Western Australia where 
there was a presentation on terrorism and the 
rule of law.

The LAWASIA Committee has built on and 
advanced the steps taken to implement a 
secondment scheme to enable lawyers from 
developing countries to spend time with law 
firms or other institutions in Western Australia.

Communications have been received from the 
Indonesian Advocates Association (Peradi) 
and the committee will in the course of the 
year ahead work towards the selection of an 
appropriate candidate and the finalisation of 
arrangements to enable that secondment to 
take place.

The LAWASIA Committee intends to have 
further discussions on topics of relevance to the 
region during the course of the coming year.
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Personal Injuries and Workers’ 
Compensation Committee 
The committee, convened by Gray Porter, 
reports to the Society’s Council on personal 
injuries and workers’ compensation issues. A 
committee member also represents the Society 
on the Law Council of Australia Personal 
Injuries Committee.

In 2008/2009 the Committee made submissions 
on a wide range of issues including:

The Dispute Resolution Directorate (DRD) • 
Rules;
The availability of Approved Medical • 
Specialists for clients resident in other 
states;
The lack of video-conferencing facilities at • 
the DRD; 
Discount rates for personal injury claims; • 
and
The Regulations relating to costs for criminal • 
injuries compensation appeals.

A number of committee members attended 
a meeting in July 2008 with representatives 
of WorkCover and the DRD including 
Commissioner Philip McCann, and 
subsequently two committee members 
represented the Society at meetings of the DRD 
Rules Committee in October and November 
2008 and March 2009. Following these 

meetings the Commissioner drafted revised 
Rules for consultation.  A committee member 
has also attended meetings of the WorkCover’s 
Scheme Participant Reference Group.

In May 2009 the Hon Troy Buswell announced 
a review of the Workers’ Compensation and 
Injury Management Act 1981 and established 
a Reference Group to report on the terms of 
reference which are: to create an improved 
structure for the Act to enhance the readability 
and consistency of the legislation; improve 
the efficiency of the legislation to respond 
to changing circumstances via shifting 
certain powers to subsidiary legislation or 
administrative procedures; address anomalies 
which have been identified through past 
experience in the operation of the Act, 
including matters raised in the evaluation of 
the 2005 reforms or by stakeholders; and 
address specific policy issues, such as age 
discrimination, as identified by stakeholders.  A 
committee member represents the Society on 
the Reference Group.

At a federal level, the committee considered 
and provided feedback on a discussion paper 
on harmonisation of workers compensation 
prepared by the Law Council of Australia 
Personal Injuries Committee.  
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Professional Liability Committee 
The Committee Convenor is Justice Ralph 
Simmonds. On 14 June 2004 the Society 
applied to the Professional Standards Council 
for approval of a professional standards 
scheme. Subsequently the composition of 
the Professional Standards Council changed 
and the guidelines for the making of an 
application for approval of a scheme were 
reviewed and extensively amended.  Although 
the Law Society’s application conformed to 
the guidelines at the time the application was 
submitted, the Professional Standards Council 
advised that the application must be amended 
to conform to the new guidelines.  

Since, the Law Societies of Victoria and 
Queensland have submitted schemes to the 
Professional Standards Council for approval. 
The progress of those applications is being 

monitored by the Law Society. The Chief 
Executive Officers of the law societies in each 
state and territory have agreed that uniformity 
between schemes is desirable.  To this end, 
there is regular ongoing discussion between the 
societies. The benefits of a scheme for the Law 
Society of Western Australia will be reviewed in 
2009/2010.

In late December 2008 the Department of 
the Attorney General requested the Society’s 
comments on ’Drafting instructions for Uniform 
Proportionate Liability Provisions’ required for a 
meeting of the Standing Committee of Attorneys 
General (SCAG) in April 2009.  The committee 
identified ten primary issues in the lengthy 
drafting instructions which were addressed 
in a comprehensive submission made by the 
Society in March 2009.  No progress appears to 
have been made by the SCAG on this issue.

Property Law Committee 
The committee is convened by Chris Martin. 
New projects in the year to 30 June 2009 
included comment on proposed amendments to 
the Planning & Development Act 2005, the Draft 
Framework for New Tenure Legislation, Names 
Suppression, and Lodgment and Payment 
provisions under the Duties Act 2008.

Although the review of the 2002 Joint Form 
of General Conditions for the Sale of Land 
was dealt with by a discrete committee, the 
Property Law Committee is represented on 
the discrete committee and was therefore very 
much involved as the 2009 version approached 
publication.

Other projects included continuing membership 
on the WA Advisory Group of the National 
Electronic Conveyancing System (NECS), 

(which has faced consensus and funding 
hurdles), various Landgate and other 
conveyancing committees, continuing 
representations to government on conflict 
issues concerning settlement agents, 
and lobbying to Landgate in the hope the 
Government will provide funding for the 
Business Focussed amendments to the 
Transfer of Land Act 1893 (TLA) referred to in 
previous annual reports.  These amendments 
are common sense practical improvements 
to the TLA.  The committee was successful in 
having the new Liberal Government proceed 
with amendments to the Strata Titles Act 1985 
(SAT) approved by the previous government, 
despite the government’s obvious preference to 
pursue public discussion on its proposed tenure 
legislation rather than repair of the STA.
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Quality Practice Standard Committee 
The Committee Convenor is Craig Slater.  
The last year saw a couple of departures and 
enjoyed the arrival of several new members.  
The revitalised committee, representing 
different practice backgrounds, will refresh the 
promotion of the QPS program and keep it 
relevant.

This last year saw a considerable amount of 
work and thought by accredited firms directed 
to the procedural changes imposed by the 
Legal Profession Act 2008.  The committee was 
pleased to note the diligence and effort by the 
auditor and firms implementing those changes 
smoothly.

The year also saw a considerable effort by 
the committee directed to the likely impact 
of the Anti Money Laundering and Counter 
Terrorism Financing Act 2006 (Cwth) once its 
operation is extended to the legal profession.  
The committee organised a seminar on the 
AML-CTF Act and published a couple of 
papers in Brief on the topic.  The AML-CTF 
Act is still being considered carefully by the 
Commonwealth Government.  Whether or not 

the AML-CTF Act is formally extended to law 
firms (or those in particular practice areas) that 
Act addresses important risk management 
practices for business in the form of checks on 
the identity of the client and the assumption 
of matter type risk.  These areas are being 
considered by the committee as they are likely 
to identify changes to the QPS that will improve 
its operation and effectiveness.

Similarly, in the past year the committee 
has awaited the publication of a new set of 
professional conduct rules by the Legal Practice 
Board.  The committee believes these rules will 
have an impact on the terms of the QPS and 
office practices in due course.

The committee has, in the context of the new 
web pages for the Law Society, also sought 
to improve the availability of information on 
the QPS and accreditation process.  The 
committee is in the process of making available 
past Brief articles on the QPS and will update 
the introductory information. The committee 
is pleased to note the interest in the QPS by 
other similar associations and even government 
bodies considering systems not dissimilar to the 
QPS.  

Taxation Committee 
The committee, convened by John Hockley 
sits as a joint committee of the Law Society 
of Western Australia and the Law Council of 
Australia. In 2008/2009 the committee made 
submissions on the Duties Act 2008 and the 
Duties Legislation Amendment Act 2008 to 
the Office of State Revenue with suggestions 
for improvements for problems arising from 
these Acts. In 2009 action on the Review of the 
State Revenue (the “Ilbery Report”) has been 
slow but further action and implementation 

of the recommendations may occur in 2010. 
Submission was also made to the Australian 
Law Reform Commission’s Reference into 
Client Legal Privilege.  

The committee is represented on the Tax 
Practitioners Forum, a national body on which 
the Law Council of Australia and the Australian 
Taxation Office (ATO) are represented. The 
aim is to develop improved communication 
between the legal profession and the ATO. 
Further developments and improvement of 



41The Law Society of Western Australia - Annual Report 2008/2009

Young Lawyers Committee 
The Committee Convenor is Kate Cook. 
In 2008/2009 the YLC has continued to 
grow through its standing working groups: 
Communications, Education, Graduate Interests 
and Social and Sport. Membership of the 
working groups is open to all Law Society 
members. 

Early 2009 saw the YLC launch a sophisticated 
new design brief with a new logo, advertising 
posters and e-newsletter. Coupled with the 
YLC’s expanding presence on social networking 
site Facebook and the attractive new Law 
Society website, the YLC has increased the 
professionalism of our marketing, creating a 
recognisable YLC brand. 

The YLC calendar is always a busy one, with 
2008/2009 being no exception. The YLC’s 
CPD program forged ahead with monthly 
Basics Series CPD seminars, a hugely popular 
Advocacy Workshop Series and a sold-out 
Advocacy Weekend. 

This year has also seen the launch of a number 
of new initiatives aimed at providing a greater 
range of services for Law Society young lawyer 

members. In October 2008, the YLC launched 
an inaugural Charity Lunch, at which the Hon. 
Michael Kirby delivered the keynote address. 
All profits went to charities Beyond Blue and the 
Chief Justice’s Youth Appeal. The YLC plans to 
continue this successful event in future years, 
planning a Charity Breakfast in October 2009, 
with the Hon. Chief Justice Robert French as 
the keynote speaker. 

The YLC continued its thriving sporting 
calendar in 2008/2009 with Spring and Autumn 
Bootcamps, Netball and the introduction of 
YLC Rugby in May 2009. The inter-firm Rugby 
tournament was a huge hit and competition 
was, as always, fierce. 

On the social front, no YLC year would be 
complete without the Golden Gavel.  This year’s 
sold out event was no different. Over 260 young 
lawyers attended the Golden Gavel which was 
presided over by the Hon. Chief Justice Wayne 
Martin and Her Hon Judge Catherine O’Brien. 
Winner David Leigh and runner-up Stuart 
Packham both won a place in the National 
Golden Gavel in Perth to be held in September 
2009.  In addition, the committee’s social 
calendar involved regular public holiday drinks 
and a fantastic end of year drinks. 

communication with the ATO will flow-on in the 
next year. One outcome of the Forum has been 
the signing of a Memorandum of Understanding 
between the ATO and the Victorian Bar in 
regard to members obtaining assistance in 
the areas of lodgment and debt issues. The 
possibility of extending this agreement to 
other areas of the legal profession is under 
discussion and consideration by the ATO.

The committee met with and made 
representations to the Inspector General of 
Taxation. The committee hopes to meet with 
the successor to Mr David Voss, Mr Ali Nasoori 
when he is next in Perth. The committee also 

met with officers from the Perth Office of the 
ATO to discuss problems of mutual interest and 
to open lines of communication. 

The committee is still trying to conclude 
a common protocol or Memorandum of 
Understanding in relation to taxation issues with 
the WA Police Force.

Members of the committee were involved in 
presenting a number of CPD seminars for the 
Law Society including on the Duties Act 2008 
and regularly write articles for Brief and other 
journals. 
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Submissions 
2008

Inquiry into the Same Sex Relationship 
(Equal Treatment in Commonwealth Laws – 
Superannuation) Bill 2008 and Inquiry into the 
Family Law Amendment (De Facto Financial 
Matters and Other Measures) Bill 2008 – 
Senate Standing Committee on Legal and 
Constitutional Affairs

Proposed Amendments to the Planning 
and Development Act 2005 - Department of 
Planning and Infrastructure

Poor condition of Broome Court House – Chief 
Justice and Chief Judge

Conflict of interests where Settlement Agencies 
Owned by Real Estate Agencies – Minister for 
Consumer Protection

Lack of reform of Strata Titles Act 1985 — 
Minister for Land Information 

Legal Profession Regulations for Western 
Australia based on Law Council of Australia 
Model Regulations - Solicitor General

Trial Transcript Additional Copy Fee — Principal 
Registrar Gething, District Court

Office of State Revenue Staffing – The 
Treasurer

Inquiry into Franchising Code of Conduct – 
Senate Parliamentary Joint Committee on 
Corporations and Financial Services

Solicitor/Client Scale of Costs for the Family 
Court of Western Australia – Legal Costs 
Committee

Scale of Costs for the State Administrative — 
Legal Costs Committee

District Court Transcripts - Court and Tribunal 

Services

Duties Act 2008 – Commissioner of State 
Revenue

Lack of review of Retirement Villages legislation 
in view of Economics and Industry Standing 
Committee Report – Minister for Commerce

Proposed protocol for claims of legal 
professional privilege — Attorney General and 
Commissioner of State Revenue

Proposed Amendments to Fair Trading Act 
1987 regarding non-Renewal of Franchise 
Agreements –  Minister for Commerce

New Requirements for Client Verification in 
Section 75 of Transfer of Land Act applications 
— Landgate

2009

Legal Profession Regulations 2009 – Solicitor 
General

Lack of review of Suitors Fund Act 1964 – 
Solicitor General

Review of Legal Practitioners (Official 
Prosecutions) (Accused’s Costs) Determination 
2006 – Legal Costs Committee

Review of Legal Practitioners (Public Notaries) 
Determination 2006 – Legal Costs Committee 

Proposed Scale of Costs for Family Court in 
response to specific enquiry from Legal Costs 
Committee – Legal Costs Committee 

Criminal Property Confiscation Act 2000 – State 
Attorney General

Review of Share Purchase Plan Threshold, 
ASIC Consultation Paper 103 –- Australian 
Securities and Investments Commission 
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Drafting Instructions for Consultation, Uniform 
Proportionate Liability Provisions - Attorney 
General

Lodgment and Payment Provisions of Duties 
Act 2008 – Commissioner of State Revenue

Criminal Injuries Compensation Amendment 
Regulations 2007 – State Attorney General

Risk of Money Laundering and Financing 
of Terrorism in the Professional Sectors – 
Australian Institute of Criminology and Legal 
Practice Board

Treasury Report on Australian Consumer 
Law, Fair Markers - Australian Consumer Law 
Consultation, Competition and Consumer Policy 
Division, Treasury, ACT

Indeterminate Sentences and Indefinite 
Imprisonment – State Attorney General

Non-Disclosure Orders And Prosecutions – 
State Attorney General

Various Criminal Law matters on which 
submissions were made to former Labor 
Government but no action taken – Attorney 
General

Lack of reform of Strata Titles Act 1985 – 
Minister for Lands

Lack of review of Retirement Villages legislation 
in view of Economics and Industry Standing 
Committee Report – Minister for Commerce

Uniform Commercial Arbitration Legislation for 
Domestic Commercial Arbitrations, Unicitral 
Model Law on International Commercial 
Arbitration –Attorney General

Human Rights Act - National Consultation 
Committee

Inquiry into Alternative Dispute Resolution and 
Civil Proceedings – National Alternative Dispute 
Resolution Advisory Council Secretariat

Consultation Paper, A Draft Framework for New 
Tenure Legislation - Landgate

Discount Rate for Personal Injuries Claims – 
State Attorney General

Government Guarantee of Deposits and 
Wholesale Funding – Law Society’s Finance 
Committee

Transferring Environmental Appeals to the 
State Administrative Tribunal – Minister for the 
Environment and the Attorney General

Non Disclosure Orders and Prosecutions – 
Attorney General

Item 23 of Table of costs, Legal Practitioners 
(Supreme Court) (Contentious Business) 
Determination 2008 - Legal Costs Committee

Lack of video conferencing facilities at the 
Dispute Resolution Directorate (DRD) – Director 
DRD, WorkCover

Dispute Resolution Directorate (DRD) Draft 
Rules – Commissioner of DRD, Workcover

Draft Costs Scale (May 2009) for Party and 
Party Costs - Federal Court of Australia

Review of the Professional Standards Act 1997 
– Department of Attorney General 

Draft Practice Direction Relating to Taxation of 
Costs - Administrative Appeals Tribunal

Commonwealth Legal Aid Funding – Federal 
Attorney General
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Nominations to External Boards
The Society nominated members to represent 
the profession on the following external boards 
and committees:

Gumala Aboriginal Corporation• 
Freedom of Information Law Reform • 
Working Group
Internal Pro Bono Advisory Group• 
Judicial Issues Working Group• 
Legal Aid Committee• 
Legal Aid Western Australia• 
Medical Board of Western Australia• 

Medical Radiation Technologists • 
Registration Board
Optometrists Registration Board• 
Physiotherapists Registration Board of • 
Western Australia
State Records Commission of Western • 
Australia – Archives and Records Committee
Strategic Criminal Justice Forum• 
WorkCover Reference Group for Review of • 
Western Australia’s Workers’ Compensation 
Legislation

Additional Issues and Projects
2008

Introduction of Professional Conduct Rule • 
28, Solicitors Advising on Loan or Security 
Documents 
National Accreditation Specialisation • 
Continuing Professional Development, QA • 
Provider Application – Legal Practice Board
Development of a Policy on a Federal • 
Charter or Bill of Rights – Law Council of 
Australia
Preparation of Fact Sheets, Form 2 and 3 • 
Legal Profession Regulations 2009 – Legal 
Practice Board
Establishment of Law Society Alternative • 
Dispute Resolution Panel of Mediators and 
Arbitrators 
Criteria for Approval of Practical Legal • 
Training Courses - Legal Practice Board
Retiring/Transitioning Lawyers Pro Bono • 
Project - National Pro Bono Resource 
Centre
Professional Placement Scheme for • 
Indonesian practitioners with Western 
Australian law practices

2009

New Costs Agreement Kit to comply with • 
Legal Profession Act 2008 and Legal 
Profession Regulations 2009
Application to National Alternative Dispute • 
Resolution Advisory Council for Law 
Society to become a Recognised Mediation 
Accreditation Body (RMAB)
Policy on Judicial Appointments • 
Review of Joint Form of General Conditions • 
for the Sale of Land – 2009 Revision 
Review of Legal Practice Board Policy for • 
Approved Practical Legal Training Courses 
(PLT) and Law Council Review of Chris 
Roper Report on PLT Standards and Law 
Admissions Consultative Committee Report 
Re Uniform Criteria For PLT
National Minimum Standards For • 
Professional Indemnity Insurance – Law 
Council of Australia
Survey on bullying in the legal profession in • 
conjunction of Edith Cowan University
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Sponsors
The Society wishes to thank its list of sponsors 
for 2008/2009. 

The following organisations have supported 
Society functions, sporting events, the Francis 
Burt Law Education Centre, Mentoring Program 
and CPD learning events:

Allens Arthur Robinson

Anything Telephones and Data 

Australian Institute of Management 

Blake Dawson

Burgess Paluch 

Clayton Utz

College of Law

Corrs Chambers Westgarth

Courts and Tribunal Services

Department of Education and Training

Department of the Attorney General

DLA Phillips Fox

DX Solutions

Freehills

Hays Legal Recruitment

interpeople

Jackson McDonald

Lavan Legal

Law Image

legalsuper

Legal Contribution Trust

LexisNexis

Mallesons Stephen Jaques

Minter Ellison 

Public Purposes Trust

Recovery Systems

Shearn HR Legal 

Talk Group

Thomson Reuters

Vero Insurance
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Note 2009 2008
$ $

Revenue  

 Continuing Professional Development 861,993            201,217             
 Law Access 165,856            174,827             
 Law Week -                        65,304               
 Francis Burt Law Education Centre 270,091            163,361             
 Membership & Governance 2,465,598         2,091,788          

Total Revenue 2 3,763,538         2,696,497          

Expenses
 
 Continuing Professional Development (648,624) (317,220)
Law Access (166,403) (156,165)
Law Week -                        (67,260)
Francis Burt Law Education Centre (263,449) (163,436)
Membership & Governance (2,216,931) (1,965,805)

Total Expenses 2a (3,295,407) (2,669,886)

Surplus for the year 468,131 26,611

INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009

 
 
 
 

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes on pages 10-18. 
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Note 2009 2008

$ $

Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 10 (b) 2,284,387 2,473,962    
Trade and Other Receivables 3 540,177 334,317       
Inventories 1,527 1,009           
Prepayments  72,157 45,128         

Total Current Assets 2,898,248       2,854,416    

Non Current Assets
Property, Plant and Equipment 4 329,571 230,897
Intangible Assets 7,120 -              

Total Non Current Assets 336,691 230,897

Total Assets 3,234,939 3,085,313

Current Liabilities
Trade and Other Payables 5 531,848 401,500
Provisions 7 117,362 79,475
Income Received in Advance 617,278 1,108,542

Total Current Liabilities 1,266,488 1,589,517

Non Current Liabilities
Provisions 8 47,662 30,333
Other 9 -                  12,804

Total Non Current Liabilities 47,662 43,137

Total Liabilities 1,314,150 1,632,654

Net Assets 1,920,789 1,452,658

Equity
Retained Earnings 1,920,789 1,452,658
Total Equity 1,920,789 1,452,658

AS AT 30 JUNE 2009
BALANCE SHEET

 
 

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes on pages 10-18. 
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2009 2008
$ $

Retained Earnings

Opening Balance 1,452,658 1,426,048

Surplus for the year 468,131 26,611

Balance as at 30 June 1,920,789 1,452,658

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009
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Note 2,009             2008
$ $

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Receipts from Membership Fees 1,082,671    1,326,634
Grants & other Receipts from the Society's Activities 2,533,639      2,368,557
Interest and Bill Discounts Received 136,573         120,695
Payments to Suppliers and Employees  (3,744,195) (3,105,450)

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 10 (a) 8,688 710,436

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Proceeds from sale of Property, Plant and Equipment 500                  -              
Payments for Property, Plant and Equipment (198,763) (50,480)

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (198,263) (50,480)

Net (decrease)/Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents (189,575) 659,956
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 2,473,962 1,814,006

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end of the financial year 10 (b) 2,284,387 2,473,962
 

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes on pages 10-18. 
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Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements as at 30 June 2009 
 
1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

The entity is not a reporting entity because there are unlikely to exist users of the accounts who are 
dependent on general-purpose financial reports of the entity for information.  These accounts are 
therefore a “Special Purpose Financial Report”.  

 
This special purpose financial report has been prepared to satisfy the Council’s accountability 
requirements under sections 71 to 76 of the Constitution of the Law Society of Western Australia.  

 
The financial report has been prepared on the basis of accounting specified by all Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations. Accounting standards include Australian equivalents to International 
Financial Reporting Standards (‘A-IFRS’)  

 
The historical cost convention has been adopted. Cost is based on the fair values of the consideration 
given in exchange for assets.  

 
In the application of A-IFRS management is required to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources.  The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various 
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstance, the results of which form the 
basis of making the judgements.  Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and 
underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in 
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.  
 
Judgements made by management in the application of A-IFRS that have significant effects on the 
financial statements and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustments in the next year are 
disclosed, where applicable, in the relevant notes to the financial statements.  
 
Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting financial 
information satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of 
the underlying transactions or other events is reported.  

 
The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation 
of the financial report:  

 
(a)   Recoverable Amount of Non Current Assets 
 
Non-current assets are written down to recoverable amount where the carrying value of any non- 
current asset exceeds recoverable amount.  In determining the recoverable amount of non-current 
assets, the expected net cash flows have not been discounted to their present value. 
 
(b)   Depreciation 

 
Depreciation of non current assets other than freehold land is calculated on a straight line basis 
which takes account of the remaining useful life of the relevant assets and their estimated residual 
value.  The following estimated useful lives are used in the calculation of depreciation: 
 
• Leasehold Improvements     the lesser of 10 years or the lease term  
• Plant & Equipment               4-11 years 
 

 
Notes Continued . . . . 

(c)   Income Tax 
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Income Tax expense is not attributable to the Society’s income due to an exemption granted under 
section 50-5 of the Income Tax Assessment Act (1997). 
 

 (d)   Employee Benefits 

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages, annual leave and long 
service leave and when it is probable that settlement will be required and they are capable of 
being measured reliably. 

Provisions made in respect of wages, annual leave and long service leave expected to be settled 
within 12 months, are measured at their nominal values using the remuneration rate expected to 
apply at the time of settlement. 

 
Provisions for employee benefits which are not expected to be settled within 12 months are 
measured as the present value of the estimated future cashflows in respect of services provided by 
employees up to the reporting date. 
 

 (e)   Receivables 

 Trade receivables and other receivables are recorded at amounts due less any allowance for 
doubtful debts. 

 
 (f)   Accounts Payable 

 Trade payables and other accounts payable are recognised when the Law Society becomes obliged 
to make future payments resulting from the purchase of goods and services. 

 
 (g) Bad Debts 

 All debts written off as bad debts are authorised by the Council of the Law Society. 
 
 (h) Goods & Services Tax 

 
Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST) 
except for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST. 
 
The gross amount of GST recoverable from and payable to the Australian Taxation Office are 
included in notes 4 and 6 respectively. 
 
Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis. The GST component of 
cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable 
to, the taxation authority is classified as operating cash flows. 
 
(i) Revenue Recognition 
 
Membership fees attributable to the year ended 30 June 2008 are recognised as income in the 
current 
reporting period. 
 
Income from other services is recognised in the period in which the service is provided. 
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Notes Continued . . . . 

 
(k) Lease Incentives 

 
Lease incentives received from entering into non-cancellable operating leases are recognised as a 
liability. Lease payments are allocated between rental expense and the reduction in the liability. 
The Society’s lease expired during 2008/2009 and the lease incentive has now been reduced to nil. 
 
(l)   Law Mutual WA 

 
In order for the Law Society to meet the obligations imposed by the “Legal Practitioner’s 
(Professional Indemnity Insurance) Regulations 1995” to arrange Professional Indemnity Insurance 
for all legal practitioners in Western Australia, a Mutual Provident Fund was established on 1 July 
1995 operating under the registered business name “Law Mutual WA”. 

 
The scheme is managed by the Law Society and is a trust of which the Law Society is Trustee.  The 
assets, liabilities and results of Law Mutual WA are not included in the financial statements of the 
Law Society. 
 
As, Law Mutual WA is a separate trust and is not restricted to those practitioners who are members 
of the Law Society, separate financial statements are prepared for Law Mutual WA. 
  
(m) Operating Leases 
 
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a basis which reflects the pattern in 
which the economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed. 
 

 (n) Provisions 
   

Provisions are recognised when the Society has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that the Society will be required to settle the obligation, and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a 
provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at 
reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a 
provision is measured using the cashflows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying 
amount is the present value of those cashflows. When some or all of the economic benefits required 
to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised as 
an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the 
receivable can be measured reliably 

 
  (o) Inventories 
    
  Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value 
 
 (p) Intangible assets  
Intangible assets balances relate to Trademarks and are recorded at cost.  These trademark 
applications were made during the period and are in the process of becoming registered. Once   
registration is complete,  these Trademarks will be amortised on a straight-line basis over their 
estimated useful lives.  
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Notes Continued . . . . 
 

2           Revenue from operations consisted of the following items:

2,009            2008
$ $

           Members Subscriptions  1,463,763     1,222,144         
           Administration Fees 193,115        153,300            
           Fees Received from Law Mutual 142,454        130,000            
           Interest 133,441        130,283            
           Seminars, Papers, Accreditation 809,633        165,734            
           Grants - Law Society Public Purposes Trust 242,185        282,396            
           Grants - Other 77,100          -                       
           Quality Practice Scheme 44,448          36,408              
            Membership Services 125,102        88,536              
            Distributions from the Legal Contribution Trust 208,200        200,000            
            Sponsorship Arrangements 48,617          53,292              
            Diary Sales & Advertising 72,591          65,781              
            Other Revenue 202,890        168,623            
 

3,763,538 2,696,497         

2(a)     Surplus for the year has been arrived at after charging the following expenses
 
           Auditor's  Remuneration 22,950          17,086              
           Depreciation 86,250          76,638              
           Law Council Levy 207,316        164,300            
           Loss on Disposal of Non Current Assets 6,216            -                       
           Meetings - AGM, Council, Committees etc. 54,688          50,938              
           Publications 36,591          31,685              
           Presidents Allowance 81,206          71,766              
           Quality Practice Scheme 28,792          24,291              
           Employee Benefits 1,769,357     1,430,816         
           Occupancy Expenses 196,605        164,677
           Printing, Postage & Stationery 79,814          50,181              
           Other Overheads 725,623        587,509            

3,295,407 2,669,886         
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Notes Continued . . .  

3.          CURRENT TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 2,009            2008
$ $

             Accrued Income 10,196 7,453
             Trade receivables 453,433 270,060
             GST receivable 66,093 43,216
             Interest receivable 10,455 13,588

540,177      334,317           

4.          PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT

 Leasehold Plant &
Improvements Equipment Total Assets

at cost at cost at cost

Gross Carrying Amount
Balance as at 1/7/07 295,708          244,893        540,601            
Additions -                 50,479          50,479              

Balance as at 1/7/08 295,708          295,372        591,080            
Additions -                 191,642        191,642            
Disposals (13,543) (13,543)
Balance 30/6/09 295,708          473,470        769,178            

Accumulated Depreciation
Balance as at 1/7/07 (149,647) (133,897) (283,544)
Depreciation Expense (29,652) (46,987) (76,639)

Balance as at 1/7/08 (179,299) (180,884) (360,183)
Depreciation Expense (29,652) (56,598) (86,250)
Disposals 6,825 6,825

Balance 30/6/09 (208,951) (230,657) (439,608)

Net Book Value as at 30/6/08 86,757          242,814      329,571           

2,009            2008
$ $

5.          TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
             Trade payables & accrued expenses 237,737        108,797            
             Grants received but not yet expended:
             -  Francis Burt Law Centre  64,582          64,582              
             GST payable 229,529        208,121            
             Young Lawyers -                    20,000              

531,848      401,500            
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Notes Continued . . . . 
 

6.          REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS
             Auditing Services - Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 22,950        17,086             

7.          PROVISIONS - CURRENT
             Employee Benefits
              - Annual Leave 100,456        55,862              
              - Long Service Leave 16,906          23,613              

117,362 79,475             

8.          PROVISIONS - NON CURRENT
             -  Employee Benefits 
              - Long Service Leave 47,662        30,333             

            Number of FTE employees at the end of the financial year 21                20                    

9.        OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

             Lease Incentives -                   12,804             

2009 2008
10.        NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT $ $

             (a) Reconciliation of Surplus from Ordinary Activities to Net
                   Cash Flows from Operating Activities

             Surplus from ordinary activities 468,131        26,612              

             Depreciation of Non Current Assets 86,250          76,638              
             Loss on disposal of Non Current Assets 6,216            -                   

             Changes in Net Assets and Liabilities
             (Increase)/Decrease in Assets
             Current receivables (205,860) 10,970
             Inventories (518) 342
             Other current Assets (27,028) (39)
             Increase/(Decrease) in Liabilities
             Payables 80,705 123,696            
             Subscriptions in Advance (441,622) 479,517            
             Current provisions 37,887          22,295              
             Non current Liabilities 4,526            (29,595)

             Net cash from operating activities 8,688          710,436           
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Notes Continued . . . . 

            (b) Reconciliation of Cash and cash equivalents

             For the purpose of the Cash Flow Statement, cash includes cash on hand, and in banks
             and investments in money market instruments.  Cash at the end of the financial year
             as shown in the statement of cash flows is reconciled to the related items in the statement
             of financial position as follows:

             Cash at Bank & Deposits at Call 391,060        746,777            
             Commercial Bills  1,893,327     1,727,185         

2,284,387   2,473,962        
  

 
11. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 
 

The people who were members of the Council of the Law Society at any time during the 
financial year were: 

Members who served 
1 Jan 2009 to 30 June 2009 

Members who served 
1 July 2008 to 31 Dec 2008 

  
Dudley Stow 
Hylton Quail 
Simon Watters 
Judith Fordham 
Pamela Hass 
Christopher Kendall 
Greg McIntyre SC 
Denis McLeod 
Rhonda Parks 
Steven Penglis 
John Prior 
Michelle Quigley 
Shane Sirett 
Craig Slater 
John Staude 
Carmel McKenzie 
Haley Allan 
Jeremy Sher 
Maria Saraceni 
Gabrielle Clarke 
 

Dudley Stow 
Hylton Quail 
Simon Watters 
Judith Fordham 
Ken Bates 
John Staude  
Christopher Kendall  
Rhonda Parks  
Denis McLeod  
Nuala Keating  
Steven Penglis  
John Prior  
Belinda Londsdale  
Shane Sirett   
Simon Watters 
Maria Saraceni 
Carmel McKenzie 
Rebecca O’Brien  
Matthew Keogh  
Elizabeth Seggie  

  
Transactions between the Law Society and Councillor Related Entities 

 
Other than the President who receives a presidential honorarium, no member of Council 
receives directly or indirectly any fees, bonuses or other remuneration. The total honorarium 
paid in 2008/2009 was $81,205 inclusive of 9% superannuation. (2008:$71,766).   
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Notes Continued . . . . 
  
11. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONT) 
 

During the financial year transactions primarily for legal services were undertaken between the Law 
Society of Western Australia and firms of which Councillors are partners, consultants or employees. 
Such transactions were undertaken in the normal course of business and were made on normal 
commercial terms and conditions. 
 
Amounts paid to firms of which Councillors are partners: 
 
Deacons (Partner: Maria Saraceni) $1188 
 
The Society also received fees from firms of which Council members are partners, employees and 
consultants.  The fees were received from all parties under the same terms and conditions, as 
follows: 
 - registration fees for CPD events 
 - fees for membership services, eg.  Law Society diary 
 - social events 

 
 Transactions between the Law Society and Law Mutual WA 
 
 During the year, the Society received fees from Law Mutual for administration, consulting and 

management services on normal commercial terms and conditions amounting to $142,454 (2008: 
$130,000). 

 
 At 30 June 2009, the Law Society owed Law Mutual $176,542 (2008: $41,844). 
 
 Transactions between the Law Society and the Law Society’s Public Purposes Trust 
 
 During the financial year, the Law Society was paid grants from the Law Society’s Public Purposes 

Trust for the following purposes: 
 
   Law Access & Shopfront Lawyer $102,185   (2008: $106,845) 
   (note Shopfront Lawyer was closed in 2008) 
   Francis Burt Law Education Centre $140,000   (2008: $125,551) 
   Law Week   $nil         (2008: $50,000) 
   (note Law Week has been postponed to Sep 09) 
 
 
 At 30 June 2009, the Public Purposes Trust owed monies totalling $nil to the Law Society of 

Western Australia (2008: $55,000). 
 
 The Society received fees from the Public Purposes Trust for administration, consulting and 

management services on normal commercial terms and conditions amounting to $125,698             
(2008: $96,000). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 Annual Report 2009 
 Page 18 

 
 
Notes Continued . . . . 
   
12. COMMITMENTS 
 
   Operating Leases – Office Space 
 The Law Society’s lease for office space at 89 St Georges Terrace Perth (for a seven year period) 

became due for renewal in April 2009. An option to extend the lease for three years was taken up 
with a market review undertaken.  The Society’s commitments over the three year period are as 
follows: 

 
                2009           2008 
      Minimum Future Minimum Future 
      Lease Payments  Lease Payments 
       $    $ 

  No later than 1 year            295,213               178,581             
   Longer than 1 year and not                                

    longer than five years           550,307    - 
 Longer than 5 years            -             -                
 
              845,520                   178,581    
      _____________ ______               _______ 
 
 
 
   Operating Leases – Office Equipment 

The Law Society entered into a lease in May 2008 for photocopiers for a term of four years.   
 

                2009           2008 
      Minimum Future Minimum Future 
      Lease Payments  Lease Payments 
       $    $ 

  No later than 1 year            14,520           14,520              
   Longer than 1 year and not            27,830           42,350             

    longer than five years 
 Longer than 5 years                -                -   
 
               42,350           56,870   
      _____________ _________              ____ 
 
 
13. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 
 There were no events subsequent to 30 June 2009 that have significantly affected or may 

significantly affect the operation of the Law Society. 
 

14.        PRINCIPAL ADMINISTRATION OFFICE 
 
 Law Society of Western Australia (Inc.) 
 4th Floor 
 89 St Georges Terrace 
 PERTH   WA   6000 
 Telephone:  (08) 9322 7877 
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